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Functioning of the Department of Justice and Equality: Department of Justice and 
Equality

Chairman: The purpose of today’s meeting is to meet representatives of the Department of 
Justice and Equality to discuss a range of issues, including the recent controversial events that 
resulted in the resignation of the former Tánaiste and Minister for Justice and Equality, Deputy 
Francis Fitzgerald, proposals from the Taoiseach for an external inquiry into the functioning of 
the Department of Justice and Equality and for reforms to make the Department more transpar-
ent to the political system and related matters.

I welcome Ms Oonagh McPhillips, acting Secretary General, to discuss these very impor-
tant matters.  She is joined by Mr. Conan McKenna, assistant secretary, who has been with us on 
a number of occasions, Mr. John O’Callaghan, assistant secretary, and Ms Bernadette Phelan, 
assistant principal officer.  The delegation will be invited to make an opening statement and this 
will be followed by questions and answers.

Witnesses are protected by absolute privilege in respect of the evidence they are to give to 
the committee.  If, however, they are directed by it to cease giving evidence on a particular mat-
ter and they continue to so do, they are entitled thereafter only to qualified privilege in respect 
of their evidence.  They are directed that only evidence connected with the subject matter of 
these proceedings is to be given and are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect 
that, where possible, they should not criticise or make charges against any person or an entity 
by name or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.

Members of the committee should be aware that under the salient rulings of the Chair, they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the Houses or an of-
ficial, either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I invite Ms McPhillips to make her opening statements.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I thank the committee for the invitation.

It may be helpful to explain that following the retirement of Secretary General Noel Waters 
last Tuesday, I, as the second most senior official in the Department, became acting Secre-
tary General of the Department on that date.  Prior to that, I was appointed Deputy Secretary 
General of the Department in July of this year following an open competition.  Before that, I 
was assistant secretary for corporate affairs.  Ms Phelan is an assistant principal officer in the 
Secretary General’s office.  Mr. McKenna heads the civil law and courts policy division.  He 
joined the Department in 2012.  Mr. O’Callaghan was appointed assistant secretary for policing 
in September 2015, prior to which he headed the equality and integration division.  Although 
most of my career has been in the Department, between all of us we have worked in about a 
dozen Departments and offices.

We have all been involved since 2014 in working to implement the Toland recommenda-
tions.  Considerable progress has been achieved on the delivery of the programme in this re-
gard, including but not limited to transforming the organisational culture; leadership and man-
agement of the Department; relationships with and governance of agencies; and management 
processes.  The senior management team and the former Secretary General, Mr. Waters, en-
gaged fully with the criticisms in Toland to lead real and meaningful change across all of these 
issues, in terms of role modelling and fostering changed behaviour, in addition to establishing 
the structures necessary to support and sustain the change.
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At the outset, therefore, I need to address the view that has become prevalent about the com-
petence and even probity of the Department.  Members of this committee will be particularly 
familiar with the breadth and quality of work produced by the staff of the Department and their 
dedication to public service.  Substantial, progressive reform has been undertaken in recent 
years across a range of our responsibilities – such as marriage equality, penal policy, criminal 
justice co-operation, insolvency and regulation in a number of challenging areas.  Having said 
that, there is no doubt that the people who make up the Department, me included, make mis-
takes.  I would not for one minute claim that the advice the Department gives in very complex 
areas cannot be questioned.  One of our objectives over the past few years in tackling our cul-
ture has been to encourage questions and challenge and test assumptions more robustly, both 
internally around our management board table and, increasingly, by engaging publicly.

At every level in the organisation, however, there are hundreds of talented, dedicated people 
working, day in, day out, trying to provide the best public service they can, dealing with ex-
traordinarily complex and challenging issues in the best traditions of the public service.  Our 
mission is working to make Ireland a safe, fair and inclusive place, and all my colleagues give 
of their best in that regard.

Along with its criticisms, it should be remembered that the Toland report recognised as 
“key strengths” the “willingness, flexibility and can-do attitude of... loyal staff” as well as the 
experience and depth of knowledge across a complex range of issues.  The report highlighted 
the culture of the Department as a key area requiring substantial change.  As recommended, 
management conducted a wide-ranging consultation with staff and external stakeholders, in-
cluding the then chairman of this committee, and a culture and values charter was published in 
2016 with the objective of fostering a more outward-looking, listening, organisational culture.  
Recognising that producing a document does not, of itself, produce change, these values form 
the core of all induction and leadership training in the organisation with a view to informing the 
way in which the Department engages with the public, our staff and stakeholders.

Changing organisational culture takes sustained effort over time and a cross-grade team, led 
by the former Secretary General and me, has been working since mid-2016 to develop this and 
ensure that changed behaviour continues to be embedded in the organisation.  As recommended 
in the Toland report, the Department committed itself to building organisational capability, and 
in 2016 a specialist head of strategic human resources was appointed to lead 65 days of in-house 
training, with combined attendance of over 1,800 staff.  The training has been provided across 
a range of courses.  Over 800 managers were trained on the Civil Service underperformance 
policy and disciplinary code; 280 front-line staff received specialist customer service training; 
144 senior managers received risk management training; 47 newly appointed managers com-
pleting a specially tailored leadership development programme; and a further 190 new entrants 
completed the clerical officer and executive officer development programmes.  Over 280 new 
entrants to the Department have completed induction training.  I have mentioned all these train-
ing opportunities because they are grounded in, and connect to, our culture and values.

A new governance framework was adopted and published in 2016, and oversight and gov-
ernance arrangements have been strengthened and formalised with the Department’s 26 agen-
cies.  Structured meetings are held in line with these agreements, and informal communication 
has also improved.  Under the Civil Service renewal plan, in common with other Departments 
a new performance management process was introduced in 2016 for all senior management 
grades in the Civil Service.  I understand my Department is 100% compliant with this process.  
Developing leadership and management practices has been a significant focus, as well as ongo-
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ing work on internal and external communications.  Significant development has taken place on 
statistics, evaluation, research, information systems and data.  This work is ongoing. 

The findings of the Toland report were taken very seriously by the management board, and 
we have tried to live the change and maintain the commitment to ensure implementation is 
sustained and embedded.  Recognising that this needs to be a continuous ongoing process, we 
contracted external experts earlier this year to undertake a stocktake of progress to date and as-
sist us in prioritising further reform measures for the next three years.  A review of the structure 
has been completed, again with help from external experts.  It was recently approved by the 
management board.  I hope these processes will be helpful to the change implementation group, 
which is to be appointed to assess progress in implementing the recommendations of the Toland 
report and ensure the acceleration of the outstanding issues, such as the organisation structure, 
as well as ongoing issues such as more effective communications, development of a more posi-
tive culture and the complex relationship with An Garda Síochána, which is also being exam-
ined by the Commission on the Future of Policing.  Our resolve is that the extensive programme 
of reform which has been ongoing since 2014 will now be augmented and strengthened by the 
further series of measures being taken by the Government.

Turning to recent issues, I welcome this opportunity to assist the joint committee as much as 
possible.  I am constrained, as the Chairman will understand, in that I understand the limitations 
that applied in the recent Dáil debates also apply to discussing matters with the joint committee.  
I hope members will appreciate that this means I am obliged to be extremely careful as regards 
discussing anything that could be deemed to trespass on the remit of the disclosures tribunal 
which is to begin its hearings on this issue on 8 January.

The Taoiseach outlined to the Dáil last week the various measures the Government will 
introduce to ensure the Department’s performance and accountability and I welcome these 
measures.  A senior barrister is to be appointed to conduct an external review of the discovery 
process.  The change implementation group to which I referred will be nominated to assess 
progress.  The terms of reference and membership of these reviews have yet to be settled by 
the Government.  I hope, therefore, that members will understand that I am not in a position to 
comment on any specific matters related to these reviews.

Much public comment about the O’Higgins commission is based on a view that the then 
Garda Commissioner behaved inappropriately in terms of a legal strategy adopted by her coun-
sel at the commission.  The disclosures tribunal terms of reference include the following term:

(e) To investigate whether the false allegations of sexual abuse or any other unjusti-
fied grounds were inappropriately relied upon by Commissioner O’Sullivan to discredit 
Sergeant Maurice McCabe at the Commission of Investigation into Certain Matters in the 
Cavan/Monaghan district under the Chairmanship of Mr. Justice Kevin O’Higgins. 

The tribunal has yet to determine this issue in line with its terms of reference.  I ask members 
to appreciate that nothing I say today should be taken as reflecting on what that legal strategy 
may have been or its appropriateness.  These are matters for the tribunal.

I forwarded to the joint committee the series of documents published by the Department 
last week and I am not sure I can add much to the detail contained in them.  It may be helpful, 
however, to explain the relationship the Department and Minister have with a commission of 
investigation.  Members will understand that a commission of investigation is a formal legal 
process established following resolutions of both Houses of the Oireachtas to investigate cer-
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tain matters of concern.  It is entirely independent and its purpose is to investigate matters and 
establish facts as specified in its terms of reference.  All parties before it have exactly the same 
rights.  Irrespective of the topic, the Department’s advice to a Minister would consistently be 
that he or she should not be involved in any way in a case to be presented by a party before a 
commission.  Department officials also gave evidence to the commission, as they have to previ-
ous commissions, and they certainly did not consult or inform the Minister or the Department 
in relation to their evidence.  It would have been quite improper for them to do so.

The Department’s view remains that where a Minister for Justice and Equality establishes 
a commission of investigation into alleged wrongdoing on the part of An Garda Síochána, it 
would be wholly wrong for that Minister to involve himself or herself in any way in the case or 
evidence to be presented to the commission by any of the parties.  It seems clear that if a com-
mission became aware that a Minister was behaving in such a way, this could have very serious 
consequences.

Commissions can investigate the actions of a person or number of people - in this instance, 
members of An Garda Síochána - all of whom have the same legal rights as anyone else at a 
commission.  It would, therefore, be unsustainable for the Minister of the day to suggest that 
the defences or arguments a person or persons could offer to the commission should be changed 
or circumscribed.  It is a matter for the commission to reach its judgment on the evidence and 
cases made to it.  Members will appreciate that if a Minister sought to influence a case that 
could be made at a commission, his or her ability to take action in respect of any findings where 
wrongdoing was subsequently established would be severely compromised.

There is one final fact in this regard that may assist the joint committee.  There have been 
suggestions that counsel representing the Department should have objected to whatever event 
took place at the commission.  This is a misunderstanding about how commissions operate and 
how this commission operated.  A third party whose actions are not in question at a particular 
part of a commission’s proceedings cannot express views on matters arising at that time.  In this 
context, the legal team which represented departmental officials was not present at the commis-
sion hearings until a later module was considered in October 2015.

It may be useful if I set out some facts on the Department’s approach to answering parlia-
mentary questions.  Standing Orders provide that “a matter shall not be raised in such an overt 
matter so that it appear to be an attempt by the Dail to encroach on the functions of the Courts 
or a Judicial Tribunal”.  As members will know, the Department deals with very large volumes 
of parliamentary questions within very tight timeframes.  On any given day, staff across many 
areas are engaged in collecting and presenting the necessary information to the Minister to 
facilitate replies.  The primary motivation of all staff in dealing with these questions is, as it 
should be, to do the best job in the time available.

The Minister has already apologised to Deputies who felt their questions were not fully 
answered.  In light of the concerns raised, the Department is, at the Minister’s request, re-
examining the replies in question and looking again at the question of what further information 
can be provided.  The Department is also reviewing its approach to parliamentary questions 
and will make any necessary changes in the approach to answering parliamentary questions, 
subject always to Standing Orders and the law.  It may also be helpful to make the point that 
assumptions can be made in this very complex area that information is already available within 
the Department when this may not be the case.

Members will be aware also that the tribunal is carrying out an investigation and in these 
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circumstances there can be issues of whether the public disclosure of information may act to the 
disadvantage of those carrying out the investigations.

Turning to the issue of discovery of matters to the disclosures tribunal, these are matters 
on which it is primarily for the tribunal to take a view.  It is also the case that a senior counsel 
will shortly be appointed by the Taoiseach to examine this matter and report to him.  Without 
prejudicing the rights of anyone involved, it may be helpful to make a couple of general points.  
The Department’s view is that it has complied fully with all discovery orders made by the dis-
closures tribunal.  What happened is that discovery orders were received in February, April and 
September 2017.  These orders were fully complied with and documentation was compiled and 
forwarded to the tribunal in February, May and September 2017.

The Department has also made a number of voluntary disclosures of other matters, includ-
ing three protected disclosures and reports from the Garda Commissioner under section 41 of 
the Garda Síochána Act.  Most recently, the email chains starting on 15 May 2015 and that of 4 
July 2015, which were published on our website, have also been sent to the tribunal.  A report 
to the Taoiseach dated 27 November 2017 sets out inter alia the extent of discovery and has 
also been published on the Department’s website.  I forwarded this report to the joint committee 
last night.  I am to some extent reassured by the tribunal’s response to our recent addition to the 
discovery when it went to some trouble last week to acknowledge the Department’s assistance 
to date.  This letter was published and has been supplied to the joint committee.

Our ongoing priority is to ensure the tribunal is supplied with information in a manner that 
assists it in its work to the greatest extent possible.  In this context, I should mention that the 
Department has not so far been party to the tribunal’s actual proceedings in the sense that it is 
not one of the parties that has had legal representation at the tribunal.  In addition, the Minister 
and Department have not applied for legal representation at the tribunal.  A number of officials 
have recently been asked to make statements to the tribunal related to the email threads of 15 
May and 4 July 2015.

I make these points to try to be of assistance to the joint committee.  I welcome that an in-
dependent person will shortly be appointed to examine the approach the Department has been 
taking.  A definitive view will have to await the findings of the independent person and, in due 
course, any views the tribunal may have.  If it is found that there are matters that should have 
been handled differently, I assure the committee the Department will engage fully and promptly 
with that.

My colleagues and staff are committed to learning the lessons of these events to ensure the 
Department of Justice and Equality can rebuild trust with the Government, public representa-
tives and the public we serve.  I look forward to answering members’ questions as fully as I can 
in light of the legal constraints to which I referred.

Chairman: I thank Ms Philips.  I will now give members an opportunity to contribute.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I thank the witnesses for attending the meeting.  I congratulate 
Ms McPhillips on her appointment as acting Secretary General which is not an easy job.  I dis-
agree with her statement that there is a prevalent view about the competence and even probity 
of the Department.  I do not believe that view is prevalent and I certainly do not accept the sim-
plistic political narrative that all of the recent problems have been caused by a dysfunctionality 
in the Department.
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Ms McPhillips indicated that requests or discovery orders were received from the disclo-
sures tribunal in February, April and September 2017.  Did the Department swear an affidavit 
of discovery in order to comply with those requests?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Yes, it did so in respect of each discovery order.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: The Minister stated in the Dáil last week that approximately 
230 documents were discovered.  Were they discovered in the affidavits of discovery?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: They were discovered in the affidavits of discovery and also in the 
voluntary discovery.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Was a claim of legal professional privilege made in the affida-
vits of discovery in respect of documents generated in 2014, 2015 or 2016?  Does Ms McPhil-
lips know if that was the case?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I believe we waived privilege.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: No.  Sorry, Chair.  It was claimed in regard to some documents that 
related to civil actions that were in train, but that was all.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Was there any claim of privilege made in respect of documents 
that would relate to paragraph (e) of the terms of reference?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: No.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Something that jumps out at me is that they state that the dis-
covery orders were fully complied with but we know that the emails of 15 May and 4 July 2015 
were not discovered in those affidavits of discovery.  Is that correct?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Yes.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Absolutely, but it is my understanding that the orders covered 
specific issues.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Do I take it then that when the Department got the order for 
discovery, the reason these two emails were not discovered to the tribunal was because the De-
partment believed they did not come within the terms of the discovery order?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Yes.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Yes.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Do I take it therefore that those two documents were consid-
ered in February, March, April of this year but a decision was made that they were not relevant?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: No.  It is my understanding that they were not considered because 
they had not been uncovered at that time.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Is it correct that a decision was made at some stage that they 
were not relevant?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I could clarify for the Deputy.  The emails of 15 May were not 
found in the Department until 9 November - in the past few weeks.
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Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: As far as Ms McPhillips and Mr. O’Callaghan are aware, these 
emails were not discussed in the Department at the time the affidavits of discovery were being 
sworn.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Definitely not.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Do they have any explanation as to why those emails were not 
considered for discovery?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: One has to go back to the genesis of the tribunal which was two 
protected disclosures that were referred to Mr. Justice O’Neill, who reviewed them and then 
recommended the establishment of a commission of investigation.  There was nothing in the 
protected disclosures that alleged or suggested that the Department was party to anything.  None 
of the terms of reference of the tribunal are directed at the Department per se.  It is investigating 
other issues.  The sense in the Department was that we handed over to the Charleton tribunal the 
material we had that was directly relevant to its terms of reference, for example, to start with, 
the O’Neill report, the protected disclosures that gave rise to the O’Neill report and a number 
of section 41 reports that touched on it.  It was not in our contemplation that there was other 
material that was relevant to the terms of reference in our possession or that we had knowledge 
of at the time.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Do they accept now that those two emails come within the 
discovery requests that were made in February-April and September?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: No.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: That is a matter for the tribunal to decide.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: But from the Department’s point of view, it was asked by the 
tribunal to discover documents in a discovery order.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Yes, specific documents.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It was a defined discovery order and that was discovered.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: For example, one of them would have been the transcripts of the 
O’Neill commission.  That is a specific order.  That was delivered.  That is just one example.  
The others were similar to that.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: There were specific categories of documents requested.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Yes.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: When they undertook a strict interpretation of those categories 
of documents, the emails of 15 May and 4 July did not come within it.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: I would not even say, “a strict interpretation,”, rather I would say 
“any interpretation”.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Okay.  Let us go back to February of this year.  If Mr. 
O’Callaghan had been formulating the Department’s affidavit of discovered and somebody had 
come in to him and said, “Listen, we have these two emails of 15 May and 4 July,” would they 
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have been discovered?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It would have been a judgment call.  As my colleague has said, the 
terms of reference do not specifically go to this issue.  In retrospect, if we had them, we would 
have had to make a call.  I think we probably would have erred on the side of caution.  Lots of 
comments have been made in the past week, for instance, that we could merely put people’s 
names into a database and fire all that stuff down to the tribunal.  I am not sure that would help 
the tribunal in its onerous work.  Obviously, over the past five years there has been an accu-
mulation of documents in the Department, some of which is relevant and some of which is not 
relevant.  It is obviously a judgment call.  We did not have them.  Therefore, that judgment call 
did not arise.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: When Ms Phillips states they did not have them, was there any 
reason they did not have them?  Was it because it was sent to the Minister’s private secretary?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.  It was simply because it was an email and it was not gener-
ated on a file.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Okay.  Ms McPhillips made the point that it did not appear to 
come within the terms of reference.  However, the argument being made by the Government 
last week is that clearly this issue will be investigated by the disclosures tribunal because it 
comes within the terms of reference when one considers paragraph (e) and (h) together.  Would 
Ms McPhillips agree it comes within the terms of reference?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It can be interpreted in that way.  If one looks back at the history 
that led to the establishment of the tribunal, the O’Neill examination, the section 41 reports, the 
protected disclosures that led to the establishment of the tribunal, this issue was not raised.  It 
was not a factor.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I will now ask some questions about the points Ms McPhillips 
makes in her statement about how it would have been inappropriate for the then Minister to 
involve herself in the evidence of another party before the commission of investigation.  We had 
the Guerin report.  Does Ms McPhillips agree that the Guerin report was to assess the validity 
of the claims being made by Sergeant McCabe?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I would have to consult my colleague.  I am not that familiar with 
the Guerin report.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Yes, broadly speaking.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: The Guerin report concludes this sergeant is a man of integrity 
and some of his complaints merit investigation.  That was it.  When one looks at the terms of 
reference of the Guerin report, can Ms McPhillips explain - I am aware she was not the commis-
sion - of what relevance to the terms of reference of the O’Higgins commission is a challenge 
to Sergeant McCabe’s motivation and integrity?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Chairman, that comes within the terms of reference of the Char-
leton tribunal.  It is difficult to judge what the judge has to judge.

Chairman: Does the Deputy want to come back?

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I will put it a different way.  I suppose it is unusual.  The point 
I find unusual is that Guerin was the filtering process whereby Sergeant McCabe was appraised 
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and it was considered whether his allegations are of substance.  On foot of the Guerin report, 
a decision was made by Government, because of a recommendation by the Guerin report, that 
there should be an commission of investigation to investigate these nine or ten criminal in-
vestigations in Cavan-Monaghan.  I wonder what possible relevance does Sergeant McCabe’s 
motivation or integrity have to the investigation of those issues?  Maybe Ms McPhillips cannot 
answer it.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I do not think I can, Chairman.  That is right in the middle of the 
term of reference (e) that I mentioned in my statement.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Okay.  I will move on.  The email of 15 May was sent to the 
Department, to the Minister’s private secretary, by an assistant secretary on foot of a conversa-
tion he has with the Attorney General’s office.  Why was the Attorney General’s office bringing 
this issue to the attention of the Minister?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not able to speculate.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Would Ms McPhillips agree that not everything that takes place 
in adversarial or inquisitorial proceedings involving the Garda is brought to the attention of a 
Minister?  I would have thought it unusual for the Minister.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Absolutely.  I gather there are over 9,000 files with the CSSO in 
regard to many issues.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: It is unusual for the Minister to be specifically informed.  For 
instance, if there is a case in the High Court today about the Garda being sued by an individual, 
the Minister will not be informed about that case.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It depends on the case.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: If it is a high profile case, perhaps.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Certainly, in regard to outcomes, the Minister would be informed 
if there was something high profile.  The Deputy asked me to speculate on what the official in 
the Attorney General’s office was contemplating, and I cannot.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Would Ms McPhillips agree that it indicates a concern on his 
part that this should be brought to the attention of the Minister?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not going to put myself in the frame of mind of the officials 
in the Attorney General’s office.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Okay.  Does Ms McPhillips agree that the Minister would have 
been doing nothing wrong had she assembled the senior officials in her Department who were 
copied on this email and said that she wanted to discuss this?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I would go back to the statement.  Our view is that any Minister 
should not involve himself or herself in a matter that is live before a commission.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I am not asking that.  Ms McPhillips has used the term.  The 
Minister should not be influencing a case or a witness.  I am not asking about that.  I am ask-
ing Ms McPhillips does she agree that the Minister would be doing nothing wrong had she 
assembled the assistant secretary, the official from the Attorney General’s office and the other 
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officials in her Department to discuss the content of the email of 15 May.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The Minister can discuss anything with officials at any time.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: She would be doing nothing wrong if she stated to her officials, 
“I am not happy with this strategy.”

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: She could express that view but the advice would certainly be that 
there is nothing the Minister could do about it.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: She could certainly contact the Garda Commissioner, since she 
is the Minister with ministerial responsibility for An Garda Síochána, to say she was not happy 
with the strategy being adopted by the Garda Commissioner.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I would refer Deputy O’Callaghan back to my statement on that 
one.  If the Minister was to express that view to a Commissioner in regard to a matter before a 
commission of investigation, that could be deemed subsequently to have been interfering in the 
Commissioner’s rights before the commission.  If the issue of disciplinary proceedings or any 
kind of proceedings arose subsequent to the findings of a commission, the Minister would have 
compromised herself in regard to that.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Is Ms McPhillips saying that if the Garda Commissioner de-
cided not to co-operate with the O’Higgins commission of investigation, the Minister with 
responsibility for An Garda Síochána could do nothing to communicate her dissatisfaction?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I return to my point at the beginning regarding the tribunal.  I am 
concerned that we are going down a road in respect of matters before the tribunal and that the 
Commissioner’s co-operation is-----

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Okay.

Chairman: Ms McPhillips’s response is noted.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I will move away from that.  I want Ms McPhillips to note my 
disagreement with the contention that it involves the former Tánaiste influencing a case or wit-
ness.  Certainly, it would not be permitted if there was a witness who was about to give evidence 
and the former Tánaiste said that she did not want that witness to give evidence.  However, it 
is not the case that the former Tánaiste could not communicate with the Garda Commissioner 
and state that the issue about the criminal complaint against Sergeant McCabe was dismissed 
and, consequently, that she was unhappy with the legal strategy.  I see no basis why the former 
Tánaiste could not have done that.  Why was she only told of emails on 16 November?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The first set of emails was discovered on 9 November when the 
then Tánaiste was out of the country on a trade mission.  On her return, on 16 November, the 
Secretary General contacted her.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: When the Taoiseach told the Dáil, on 14 and 15 November, 
that there was no record in the Department indicating an awareness on the former Tánaiste’s 
part, why did no one in the Department say that was not right and that the Taoiseach should be 
informed of that fact?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There was a certain amount of confusion on that and I regret that 
the Taoiseach was not more fully informed on those occasions.  If one looks at what was said, 
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the advice and the briefing to the Taoiseach were informed by our view of the legal situation, 
namely, that we could not interfere in matters before the tribunal or comment on them.  A wider 
briefing relating to facts was not given because the view was that we could not articulate the 
matters as they were before the tribunal.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: The former Tánaiste had legal representation at the O’Higgins 
commission, is that correct?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The individual members of the Department who were giving evi-
dence to the O’Higgins tribunal were represented by counsel and solicitors.  That representation 
was not present until October 2015.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Is it not the case that the former Tánaiste could have sought 
representation at the tribunal at any time if she had wanted to do so?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: That would be a matter for the commission to grant.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: She could have applied for it.  Anyone can go in at any time 
and do so if they are relevant to the terms of reference.  She could have stated that she was un-
happy with the strategy being adopted by the Garda Commissioner and could have stated that 
the strategy of the Garda Commissioner in questioning the motivation of Sergeant McCabe was 
outside the O’Higgins commission’s terms of reference.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The former Tánaiste was not represented and, therefore, it did not 
arise.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I know.  If, however, she had made a decision that she wanted 
to be represented because she wanted to make that point, she could have made the point.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It is completely speculative to say that.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Of course it is speculative but she could have done so.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: The Deputy is testifying rather than questioning.

Senator  Martin Conway: The line of questioning is becoming inappropriate.  I have great 
regard and respect for Deputy O’Callaghan but this line of questioning is in the realm of total 
speculation.  It is inappropriate and borders on interfering with the disclosures tribunal.  The 
Chairman has a responsibility to rule it out of order.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: The good news is that I have finished my questions.

Chairman: I have left it to our guests to respond as they indicated they would, both prior to 
the meeting and in their opening statement.  I am allowing members, as I always do, the oppor-
tunity to delve as they deem appropriate.  If, as the Senator suggests, the questioning becomes 
inappropriate, I will intervene.

Senator  Martin Conway: Would the Chairman not agree that it is inappropriate?

Chairman: I am accepting the response of Ms McPhillips and her colleagues.  I am leav-
ing that judgment call to them until there is a situation that merits or warrants the Chairman’s 
intervention.  I have not seen that.

Senator  Martin Conway: Will the Chairman clarify how long we have for questions?



6 DECEMBER 2017

13

Chairman: If he was here every week, the Senator would know that we allow members full 
opportunity for questioning and we will do so today.  Everyone will have the same respect here.

Senator  Martin Conway: I am here most weeks.

Chairman: Good man.

Senator  Martin Conway: Does the Chairman accept that I am here most weeks?

Chairman: That is as it should be.

Senator  Martin Conway: Does the Chairman accept that?

Chairman: I am not going to go back over the record, but I accept that the Senator is a val-
ued member of the committee.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: In defence of my colleague, the Chairman did make an unfair refer-
ence to someone who makes every effort -----

Chairman: Deputy Brophy, we are here to conduct an investigation with representatives of 
the Department of Justice and Equality.

Deputy  Clare Daly: The Deputy is talking down the clock.

Chairman: This is an unmerited intervention and I will proceed by inviting Deputy Jack 
Chambers to ask the next set of questions.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: I thank the officials for coming in.  I will follow up on some of 
the matters raised by Deputy O’Callaghan.  I will go directly to the documents that were re-
cently discovered by the Department.  For clarity in respect of the discovery process, will the 
officials detail to the committee the mechanism of the discovery in the earlier part of this year.  
How were the documents discovered and was there an electronic trawl of documents?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: As I said, the discovery was initially voluntary discovery in rela-
tion to the matters which were directly pertinent to the establishment of the disclosures tribunal, 
namely, the O’Neill report and the protected disclosures that gave rise to that report.  Then there 
were discovery orders made relating to transcripts of the commission of investigation and other 
matters.  There was no general widespread trawl of documents through the Department.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Did the Department consider carrying out a general trawl?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: I am not sure that it was actually considered.  The people who 
were dealing with the discovery -----

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Who were the people dealing with the discovery?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: It was people in my division who were dealing with the Charleton 
tribunal.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: And Mr. O’Callaghan was dealing with the discovery.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: I was not specifically, personally dealing with the discovery, there 
were other officials doing that.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Mr. O’Callaghan is not sure if a general trawl was discussed.
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Mr. John O’Callaghan: I cannot say definitively if it was discussed.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: If Mr. O’Callaghan was heading the division, would he not know 
that?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: We discovered to the tribunal what it asked for and in respect of 
which it made discovery orders.  We also discovered items that we had which we knew to be 
relevant to the tribunal, as in the papers that gave rise to its establishment and other ancillary 
papers that were around that issue.  They were discovered to the tribunal.  Things that were in 
the knowledge of the division of the people who were dealing with the Charleton tribunal and 
the issues which had given rise to it.  The people who dealt directly with the establishment and 
the conduct of the O’Neill investigation, people who before that had dealt with the O’Higgins 
investigation.  The people who were dealing with the discovery were individuals who were 
fully au fait with all the issues considered by Guerin, O’Higgins, O’Neill and, now, the disclo-
sures tribunal.  They knew the documents that were available and known to them.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Did they know about the documents we have recently seen?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I would make the point that an independent senior counsel will be 
appointed to look at these matters.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: I do not want to talk about it.  That is fine.  I am discovering what 
happened in the past.  I do not want to discuss the process to which Ms McPhillips referred.  To 
return to the specific matter, Mr. O’Callaghan said he was not sure if there had been a general 
trawl.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: No, I said that there was not a general trawl.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: And Mr. O’Callaghan is not sure if there was an electronic trawl 
of documents.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: No, there was not an electronic trawl in the sense that there was 
such a trawl in the past couple of weeks that went through tens of thousands of emails to see if 
there was any email that might be relevant to the tribunal.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Would Mr. O’Callaghan agree that a discovery process should 
involve going beyond the scope of the knowledge of the people in a particular unit and that 
they probably should have gone beyond what they thought they knew?  Would he agree that the 
Department would have been more prudent if it had gone beyond what its officials thought that 
they knew for the discovery process? 

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: This will be a matter for the tribunal, which will take a view of 
whether the discovery was appropriate.  It is open to the tribunal to take a view.  The senior 
counsel will look at this specific issue in the coming weeks.  I understand this appointment will 
be made very shortly.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Does Ms McPhillips, as the head of the Department, have a 
view-----

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I refer the Deputy to my earlier response to Deputy O’Callaghan.  
There are many thousands of documents which mention the people involved over the past five 
years.  I do not believe that if we took a totally wide-ranging view of all that material - and it 
landed down to Dublin Castle - it would assist the tribunal.
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Deputy  Jack Chambers: Should the tribunal not be the filter for the documents rather than 
the Department?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: As my colleague said, the people who dealt with this are ex-
tremely experienced officials who have experience with the most recent process of discovery 
over the past three or four years, and who have dealt with other tribunals in the past.  They have 
considerable experience in this area.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Based on the current situation, could it be the case that, in the 
context of previous tribunals, some documents were not submitted?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I do not think there is any basis for that assertion.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Why did the Department send the documents to the tribunal if 
Ms McPhillips feels she fully complied with discovery orders?  What was the purpose of send-
ing them?  Why did the Department not stand by its original contention that it fully complied?  
Why did Ms McPhillips not refuse to send these subsequent documents if they were not rel-
evant to the work of the tribunal?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We need to be definitive about what a discovery order is.  As I un-
derstand it, a discovery order specifies a range of things that it wants.  It is a specific document.  
It is complied with.  That was complied with in full in relation to the three specific discovery 
orders that we got.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: I want to discuss some of the emails that were sent.  Would Ms 
McPhillips agree that the Minister’s contention that she had no awareness of the legal strategy 
was incorrect and in fact, the repeated emails to her, that were noted by her officials, displayed 
awareness?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I do not agree.  If one reads the email - obviously this is a matter 
that the tribunal will have to get into - I do not want to stray into it.  It is best that we stay on 
the right side of that line.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Okay, I will address it in a different context.  In terms of the gov-
ernance arrangement between the Department of Justice and Equality and An Garda Síochána, 
would it be a typical case that the Department would have its media strategy informed by An 
Garda Síochána?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Its media strategy?

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Yes.  We know that the media strategy, as noted by the Minister, 
was submitted from information from An Garda Síochána.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Every day there are issues that arise on Garda matters, be it a 
drugs seizure or anything like that.  There is a flow of information back and forth between An 
Garda Síochána and the Department.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: What is the governance arrangement for that flow?  Will Ms 
McPhillips describe to the committee the-----

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It is based on section 41 of the Garda Síochána Act 2005.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: As part of the Toland report and some of the information submit-
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ted by Ms McPhillips, we know there is a framework of governance between the Minister and 
the Department of Justice and Equality and An Garda Síochána.  Will Ms McPhillips give me 
information on how that framework operates?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will ask my colleague to go into detail on that.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: In a very general way it is expected that the Minister and the De-
partment would be aware of any issues that will arise that are likely to give rise to public interest 
concerns, controversy or anything like that in the normal way, so that the Minister is not blind 
sided by something that might happen.

In an evolving situation, whether it is a crime, anything could arise and the purpose of the 
arrangements is to ensure that the Minister of the day knows in general terms what is happening 
and is in a position to respond to questions that might arise for him or her, either in the Oireach-
tas or in public.  That broadly speaking is what we are at.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: That is a pool of information.  Let me clarify that there are areas 
in which information is not appropriate to convey and that is not then conveyed.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: To whom is it not conveyed?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: To the Minister or to anyone else.  The Garda Síochána has a legal 
identity of its own.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Ms McPhillips states it was correct that the Minister for Justice 
and Equality should have no involvement in the matter.  If she should not have had any involve-
ment in the matter, why was the information given to her?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The information was given to her because it was given to an of-
ficial and it was conveyed on to the Minister.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: In the Toland report, it is stated that there is a deferential rela-
tionship and a passive approach between the Department of Justice and Equality and An Garda 
Síochána.  Does Ms McPhillips agree with that statement?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Let me clarify my previous answer.  The information that we are 
talking about in the email was not given to the official by An Garda Síochána.  It was given to 
the official by the Office of the Attorney General.  That is just to clarify that point.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: The information was also given because we know An Garda 
Síochána gave information to the Department when the media question was submitted.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Absolutely.  But we were talking in the context of 15 May.  The 
email of 15 May was from the Office of the Attorney General.  I am just clarifying the context 
of what I said earlier.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Would Ms McPhillips agree that in July 2015, the information 
was submitted from An Garda Síochána to the Department?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The briefing of 4 July 2015 was in the context of the then Minis-
ter’s appearance on the “This Week” programme the following day and a briefing was gathered 
for her.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: What would happen when a briefing is given to the Minister?  
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How would the Department deal with a particular briefing submitted to the Minister?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Some things are given in writing, some things are given orally, it 
just depends on the circumstances.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Is there a record in this case of an oral briefing to the Minister?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Would there be records of oral briefings to Ministers?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There may well have been phone calls because in the course of a 
Saturday - - - - -

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Does the Department record oral briefings to Ministers?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Not in every circumstance.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Does Ms McPhillips think it should?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Not in every circumstance.  There just would not be time, Deputy.  
The fast moving pace of things, if one stopped to write down everything that one had said, one 
would not - - - - -

Deputy  Jack Chambers: That is another judgment call that officials make around whether 
a briefing is recorded or not.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Like any profession one must make judgment calls on an hour to 
hour basis.  That is what we are paid for.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: In terms of transparency and openness of information, a selected 
minuting of particular briefings is concerning in that we do not know from the information that 
is submitted to us or that is openly given whether it is in response to media queries or parlia-
mentary questions that we are not certain of what is a minute or what is not.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: To suggest that is to misunderstand the business of Government.  
Every Minister who is out today in any circumstance will get information and briefing to assist 
them in doing their job.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Which will enhance their awareness of the particular problem, 
which was denied.  I want to address some of the other issues.  I have general governance con-
cerns.  Last week the Department officials and the Minister for Justice and Equality were before 
the select committee and dealt with the issue of Garda overtime.  The Minister was accompa-
nied by two officials, Mr. Seamus Clifford from the Department and Mr. Michael Culhane who 
is head of finance for the Garda Síochána.  There was obviously an email from Assistant Com-
missioner Pat Leahy on overtime which stated that overtime would be stopped in the Dublin 
metropolitan region.  Does that show a dysfunction around the communication between both 
the Department and the Garda Síochána and why was there an official from An Garda Síochána 
and an official from the Department of Justice and Equality before the committee when the 
matter could be clarified before the issue arose?  Will Ms McPhillips give me the detail of how 
governance works around Garda overtime?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will try to assist the Deputy.  The direction that went out on the 
Dublin metropolitan region is a Garda operational matter, so that was a matter for the relevant 
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assistant commissioner discussing it with his or her chiefs.  The Minister for Justice and Equal-
ity appeared before the Select Committee to discuss the Estimates for 2017 and Vote 20 - the 
supplementary estimate for An Garda Síochána.  In the normal course of events there are eight 
Votes in the Justice group of Vote - one of which is the Garda Vote.  It is our practice while the 
financial shared services in Killarney co-ordinates across the group and acts as a kind of group 
finance oversight at director level, normally in the course of any discussion with the committee, 
in order to be of assistance to the Houses, we ask the relevant official in the Vote holding body 
to come to assist with any level of detail that might arise.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: That is fine.  On the issue of the criteria for the reopening of 
Garda stations, who drafted the criteria in the Department?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not sure that I can answer.

Chairman: Is Ms McPhillips in a position to answer.  It is okay, if she is not but will she 
indicate that?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Perhaps Mr. O’Callaghan can?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: The criteria were approved by Government.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Who drafted the criteria?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: The criteria were approved by Government.  They were accepted 
by the Minister and were brought by the Minister to Government.

Deputy Jack Chambers: Mr. O’Callaghan will not answer the question about who drafted 
the criteria.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: I do not think it is appropriate that I do so.  There is a system of 
government in the country that relies on issues being brought to Government by the Minister 
who is responsible for them.  Governments make decisions and the decision was transmitted 
by the Minister for Justice and Equality to the Garda Commissioner.  The Garda Commissioner 
wrote a report.  That is how the system works.

Chairman: In this instance, may I remind Deputy Chambers of the caution I issued at the 
outset “Members of the committee should be aware that under the salient rulings of the Chair, 
they should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the Houses or 
an official, either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.”

Deputy  Jack Chambers: I think the officials have more knowledge about the criteria and 
how they were drafted.

Chairman: Which is different from naming an official.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Yes.

Chairman: Let me point that out.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Did Mr. O’Callaghan discuss the criteria with the Minister when 
they were being drafted?
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Mr. John O’Callaghan: I could not say definitely.  The way the system works is submis-
sions are prepared, they go to the Minister, the Minister approves them, the Minister brings a 
memo to the Government and the Government decides.  I cannot remember how many submis-
sions are prepared but it is tens or perhaps hundreds of them.  On a specific issue such as this I 
suspect there may have been but I could not be definitive.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There may be discussions on many of the submissions.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Ms McPhilips said she was proud of the corporate affairs team’s 
work over the last year in terms of the organisation’s culture.  What changes were made last 
year?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Many changes that I outlined in the opening statement have been 
made in the last few years.  The Department took the outcome of the Toland report very serious-
ly and has made a lot of changes.  The point about a change in culture is that it cannot be done 
overnight.  As I said in my statement, producing a document does not of itself produce change 
but there have been a lot of building blocks.  The Deputy will be familiar with the concept of 
the management advisory committee, MAC, which is the old style way a Department is run.  
That committee was transformed into the management board of the Department.  It is designed 
much more along the lines of a business board in terms of collective responsibility and so forth.  
I would say that is the most significant thing and that has allowed us to test assumptions and 
make a lot of changes in the way the Department runs its policy.  I will ask Mr. McKenna to 
speak further about the changes we have made.

Mr. Conan McKenna: There are two aspects.  The first relates to the culture of the Depart-
ment itself.  What we set about doing back in 2014 following the Toland report was to strip 
the whole thing down with professional help and define where we thought we were in terms 
of our culture and where we thought we needed to be, which is exactly what the Toland report 
suggested we did.  We came up with a number of particular areas that we wanted to be the char-
acteristics of a change culture for the Department, including openness, trust and respectfulness, 
leading collaboratively, empowering people and making them accountable, being professional 
and supportive, being proactive in the things we do and ensuring a high standard of public 
service delivery.  We set about putting a culture charter in relation to that, which was first of 
all adopted by the management board.  It was specifically signed by every member of the man-
agement board and communicated to staff.  What is interesting about that is that even in the 
last couple of weeks a number of staff have undergone leadership development programmes.  
As part of those programmes they had to come back and do particular projects in relation to 
their own areas of work and apply what they learned.  They then present the results of the pro-
grammes to the management board in exhibitions.  In the last couple of those presentations I 
have gone to, including in the last few weeks, it was very interesting for us as senior managers 
to see the new charter being fed back to us by the people who are doing the projects.  They are 
embedding what they have learned in how they are going to deliver better accountability.  At 
the grassroots that is a very encouraging sign.

In terms of the management board itself one of the key criticisms in the Toland report was 
that management was very much a series of silos within the operation and there was not cross 
criticism or openness to criticism or challenge at the board.  A number of people were heads of 
areas and they reported on their own areas.  That has transformed completely in the past three 
years in the sense that even the former Secretary General, Noel Waters, who only left last week 
was extremely encouraging and very specifically invited challenge on assertions or proposals 
from people like me, for example, who have nothing to do with the policing or prisons area.  I 



20

JJE

think that is working very well.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Was Mr. McKenna surprised by his sudden resignation?

Mr. Conan McKenna: Was I surprised by his sudden resignation?

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Or sudden retirement.

Mr. Conan McKenna: In fairness to Noel Waters, as the Deputy knows, he had already an-
nounced his retirement in February.  As to whether we were surprised by his sudden departure 
on that evening, yes of course we were.  He has his own reasons for departing on that evening.  
Nonetheless, we have to regroup as a Department.  We have to get on with it and continue to 
embed cultural change.  Those are just a couple of the examples of how I think the culture has 
changed significantly since 2014.

Chairman: I thank Deputy Chambers.  Members can ask supplementary questions if they 
wish but I will allow other speakers first and they can come back if they must.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: I thank the witnesses for coming in.  The Toland report highlighted 
a secretive and closed Department in which secrecy was part of its DNA and in which there was 
significant leadership and management problems.  We were told by Ms McPhillips in her open-
ing statement that in common with all Departments a new performance management process 
was introduced in 2016 for all senior management grades in the Civil Service.  I understand the 
Department is fully compliant with the process.  The picture painted by the witnesses is a pret-
tier one than is the general perception.  Was she surprised that the Taoiseach, Deputy Varadkar, 
recently described the Department as not fit for purpose?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not sure he said that exactly.  I was disappointed the Tao-
iseach said that but it is not for me to disagree with him.  What we have been trying to do this 
morning is outline to the committee some of the detailed work that has been done.  In changing 
a culture or organisation, system-wide change is made up of a whole lot of small elements that 
are not necessarily newsworthy.  The improvements that have been made are below the water 
line and over time they contribute to a changed culture and organisation.  That is what our 
concentration has been on in the past few years, in common with other Departments across the 
Civil Service under the Civil service renewal plan.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: I am not sure what year it was but in the context of the Government 
talking about reform of the Civil Service it was said that it would pin down accountability for 
results at every level from Ministers down with clear consequences for success or failure.  Are 
there any sanctions in place in the Department of Justice and Equality for underperformance or 
negligence?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Everybody in the Department of Justice and Equality is subject to 
the Civil Service disciplinary code in the same way as everyone else across the public service, 
but our accountability on a month-to-month basis is through a methodology called the one plan 
which we monitor on a monthly basis at the board.  There is accountability around the manage-
ment board and through the performance management process that I mentioned in my remarks.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Has anyone been censured in the past three years?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I could get those statistics if Deputy Wallace wishes.  It is a very 
big organisation with 2,500 people so I do not have them to hand.
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Deputy  Mick Wallace: I know a lot of questions have been asked about the emails.  Wit-
nesses should forgive me if I am going over ground that has been ploughed or harrowed before 
but I am as confused as I was when I came in.  Was each email that was returned by each trawl 
categorised and, if so, how were they categorised?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not sure I understand the question.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: When the Department started to dig were emails put in different 
categories and filed or was it all one mishmash?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The emails that were discovered most recently were as part of a 
process that started on Thursday, 9 November.  The reason it started was because, as members 
are aware, of a series of parliamentary questions and press queries.  To a large extent we did not 
have any information on the subject matter of the parliamentary questions and we were trying 
to figure it out.  Then a parliamentary question was submitted that mentioned the specific date 
of 15 May so we went and looked at material on that date.  People’s diaries and email accounts 
were examined.  The parliamentary questions were not about an email but they were about 
meetings that may have happened on that date.  There was an examination to try and assist 
Deputies and try to prepare material for the parliamentary questions but it had not been obvious 
up to this point in time that that date was in any way significant to us.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: In his statement of 28 November, the Minister, Deputy Flanagan, 
said of the emails that emerged on Monday, 27 November that he believed there were new doc-
uments that had only come to light and had not been given consideration in any earlier process.  
Does Ms McPhillips agree with that statement?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Exactly.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Deputies O’Callaghan and Jack Chambers were asking about the 
emails.  The officials were saying that it would not have been fair to the tribunal to land all these 
emails down on top of them without going through them first to see what was relevant.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No, that is not what I said, with respect.  What I was saying was 
that there is an enormous amount of material in the Department accumulated over the past five 
years or maybe more in respect of these subject matters.  There have been suggestions in the 
media and elsewhere that we should just search for particular keywords and give the tribunal 
everything in respect of those keywords.  That would amount to a very extensive trawl of stuff 
and would not necessarily be helpful to the tribunal.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: I would have assumed that it would be best for them to make that 
call, though, no?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Some of the material would not be related in any way, shape or 
form to the tribunal’s terms of reference because these things go off in other directions and are 
not related to the tribunal’s terms of reference at all.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: The logic of that argument is that the tribunal could have asked 
us to give it anything with any mention of certain individuals, issues or topics.  That would 
have resulted in us effectively dumping, for want of a better word, thousands upon thousands 
of documents at Dublin Castle and leaving it to the tribunal to go through them all and decide 
whether they were of any relevance.  We provided to the tribunal both in terms of the discovery 
orders and voluntary discovery the items that we were aware of that were pertinent to the terms 
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of reference both to the establishment of the tribunal and to matters relating to it.  What the 
acting Secretary General has been talking about is this idea of everything we ever knew about 
anything related to the matters that are the subject of a tribunal, regardless of whether they are 
relevant to the terms of reference of the tribunal.  I am not sure I would use the word “unfair”, 
but I think it would not necessarily be helpful to the tribunal for us to do that.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: There is no point in us arguing forever about it.  I feel that the De-
partment is doing some of the work of the tribunal.  I would have thought that it would be a call 
the tribunal would have to make.  If I were Mr. Justice Charleton, I would not want someone 
else screening what emails might be relevant or not.  Do the witnesses not see that point?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I do not think we should be ourselves in Mr. Justice Charleton’s 
shoes in respect of what he thinks.  It will be up to himself to form a view.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: On Monday, 27 November, a Department of Justice and Equal-
ity spokesperson confirmed to RTÉ that the contact between the Department and the Attorney 
General’s office was in fact for information purposes only and that it was not legal advice.  I am 
curious as to how a defence based on legal advice was ever formed in respect of the email of 
15 May.  That email reads: “Richard and I agreed that this is a matter for the Commissioner [...] 
and that neither the Attorney nor the Minister has a function relating to the evidence a party to a 
Commission of Investigation may adduce.”  Was it ever the opinion of the Department that this 
was legal advice or was that solely the opinion of the Government, which it used as a defence?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I think there are two different categories of advice, to be fair.  
The email of 15 May is an email based on a conversation with an official.  It gives an account 
of a conversation with an official in the Attorney General’s office.  Obviously, that is not legal 
advice per se.  Subsequently, within the past couple of weeks, the current Attorney General has 
advised on this matter.  What he said was that his advice would be consistent with the view 
expressed in that email of 15 May.  There is legal advice from the Attorney General’s office on 
this issue.  The letter of 15 May does not constitute legal advice in and of itself but it constitutes 
a view expressed by the Attorney General’s office, and the official who had received the phone 
call, who is also legally qualified and very experienced, agreed with that view.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: That became legal advice at a later stage, did it?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No, what I said was that the current Attorney General proffered 
advice to the Government in the past couple of weeks.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: At that time, it was not actually established legal advice.  Would 
that be true to say?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I think, to be fair, we are dancing on the head of a pin.  The view is 
expressed by the Attorney General’s office and conveyed via the email composed by an official 
in the Department of Justice and Equality.  They agreed that this was the legal position.  It is not 
legal advice per se.  The legal advice was received from the Attorney General within the past 
couple of weeks.  It backed it up 100%.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Was the email of 15 May 2015 the first time the Department was 
informed of the legal strategy?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I think, Chairman, we are definitely straying into an area that is a 
matter for the tribunal in respect of that.
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Chairman: Would Deputy Wallace like to rephrase?

Deputy  Mick Wallace: This is a question the Department can answer yes or no to.  I do not 
understand why they would have a problem with it.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The only issue I have is in respect of the categorisation of the 
legal strategy.  I think it is a matter for the tribunal as to how to characterise that.  As far as I 
am aware, this is the first time that we were aware that there was an issue raised at the tribunal 
between counsel on the matter.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: I will ask the question differently, then.  We will take out the legal 
strategy part.  Was the email of 15 May 2015 the first time the Department had any notion that 
the former Garda Commissioner was going to question the motivation of Maurice McCabe?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: To the very best of my knowledge, yes.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Apart from the three emails, has any discovery been made in the 
past month?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Yes.  The Deputy will be aware from media reports of a section 
41 report in respect of the tribunal liaison office in the Garda Síochána.  That was the subject 
of a section 41 report from the Garda Commissioner to the Minister and that section 41 report 
was furnished to the disclosures tribunal.  That is a find or discovery that was made in the past 
couple of weeks.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Have the officials been given a copy of the report of the Accounting 
Officer, Joe Nugent, regarding the use of a Gmail account by the former Garda Commissioner?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I have not.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Does Ms Phillips know why she has not been?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I do not.  In fairness, I am in this job for the past six days.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Okay.  Might anyone else in the Department have got it?  I will 
forgive Ms McPhillips.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not certain.  I literally do not know what the Deputy is refer-
ring to.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Does Mr. O’Callaghan know?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: I am unaware of what the Deputy is talking about.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Is it possible that the officials could get back to us and let us know 
if they received a copy of the report that was commissioned by the Policing Authority and car-
ried out by the Accounting Officer, Joe Nugent, in respect of the use of a Gmail account by the 
former Garda Commissioner?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Just on a point of detail, Joe Nugent is not the Accounting Officer.  
The Commissioner is the Accounting Officer of An Garda Síochána.  That is just in terms of 
accuracy.
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Deputy  Mick Wallace: Will the witnesses get back to us and let us know if anyone in the 
Department has got that report?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Sure, absolutely.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Do the officials think it was appropriate for the head of national 
security to be using a Gmail account?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We have no involvement and we do not know anything about that.  
I am not able to assist the Deputy with this, I am afraid.  I assume from the Deputy’s questions 
that these are matters that are being raised in the Policing Authority.  That is the proper forum 
for them.  I am not sure and literally do not know what the Deputy is talking about.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Did the Department of Justice and Equality receive any corre-
spondence from the particular Gmail account I have referred to in respect of Maurice McCabe?  
Were there any emails from that Gmail account to the Department that related to Maurice Mc-
Cabe?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I do not know.

Deputy  Mick Wallace: Would it be possible to find out?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not sure it is.  As I said earlier, the Department of Justice and 
Equality is an organisation made up of 2,500 people.  It is difficult to say, corporately.  A dif-
ficulty we have in answering parliamentary questions is that if a Deputy has a specific question 
about a specific event, we can check that, but we cannot be definitive about something broad 
that has gone on for many years.  If the Deputy gives us specifics, we will certainly address it 
and I will do my best to get back to the Deputy on it.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I thank Ms McPhillips for coming in.  My head is probably mush at 
this stage, so if I repeat things, it is just that I do not get it and am not clear on something.  Ms 
McPhillips has been at pains to point out that the Department of Justice and Equality is a huge 
organisation.  It obviously is but we are not talking about people in the Irish Naturalisation and 
Immigration Service, INIS, the Prison Service or the Coroner’s Office.  The people who have 
knowledge of policing matters at the top of the Department make up a small list.  Six senior 
Department of Justice and Equality officials, including those who have the most senior respon-
sibility for policing matters, were the recipients of the emails in question.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Absolutely, but people move on, are in different jobs or retire, so 
it is not a static group, but I agree with the Deputy.

Deputy  Clare Daly: In that sense, a trawl or unearthing documentation is not a matter of 
unearthing it from thousands of people.  It would have been reasonable, in the context of the 
terms of reference, for the senior officials involved in policing, advising the Minister and so on, 
to have their emails trawled to comply with the discovery order of Mr. Justice Charleton.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: On compliance with the discovery order, as I was saying to Depu-
ty O’Callaghan, there are specific terms in the discovery order.  They were examined.  Our view 
remains that we complied with the orders in full.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I am trying to get my head around that.  Is that a list of requested docu-
ments or is it a list of items that may be relevant?  Is it a definitive list or what is it?
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Ms Oonagh McPhillips: My understanding is that it is the former and that specific docu-
ments are requested.

Deputy  Clare Daly: So it is the fault of Mr. Justice Charleton for not outlining clearly 
enough what he wanted?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not saying that.  I am saying that orders were made by the 
tribunal and we complied.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I am not being pedantic.  Earlier, there seemed to be a suggestion that 
Ms McPhillips thought some of what turned up later was not actually relevant to the terms of 
reference.  It seemed to indicate that the Department had a certain scope in deciding what may 
or may not be relevant.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: There is a distinction to be made.  Discovery orders, which list 
items that are to be discovered, are complied with fully.  For example, one was for the tran-
scripts and recordings of the O’Higgins commission.  The tribunal asked if it could have the 
transcripts and recordings and we provided them.  A number of discovery orders of that type 
were made, asking for specific issues or records.  They were discovered.  On top of that, volun-
tary disclosure was made of other items which we had in our possession which were clearly rel-
evant to the tribunal, for example, the O’Neill report which gave rise to the establishment of the 
tribunal, a number of section 41 reports and so on.  Things clearly related to the establishment 
and business of the tribunal were discovered voluntarily.  Other specific items were requested 
by the tribunal which were provided on foot of the discovery orders.

Deputy  Clare Daly: The witnesses seemed to say earlier that they did not think the terms of 
reference were relevant to some of these items when their Minister in the Oireachtas had set up 
a tribunal to investigate a number of issues.  The document is clearly relevant under the terms 
of reference in a number of cases.  Part C of the terms of reference includes the knowledge of 
the present and former Garda Commissioner concerning criminal allegations against Maurice 
McCabe.  Parts F, G and H list matters that relate to knowledge of the Garda Commissioner 
and the former Commissioner of this strategy of a criminal allegation against Maurice McCabe 
and of it being used in an attempt to undermine him.  In the discussions that took place in the 
Dáil, the role of the Department’s knowledge was specifically listed.  I do not understand how 
the witnesses would think that an email that validated the matter would not be relevant.  I do 
not get that.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We did not have the email.  The email was not sitting on a desk.  
We were not looking at it and asking if it complied with the discovery order that we had.  The 
email was not discovered until a month ago.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I find the judgment of the senior Department of Justice and Equality 
officials who were recipients of that email and had clear knowledge of the terms of reference 
of the tribunal shocking.  It was in their own email accounts and they did not think that it was 
relevant to hand this over.  If anything, Ms McPhillips’s defence is poor judgment more than 
anything else.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: My defence is that we are human.  I do not want to be defensive 
but to help the committee.  We are human beings and this was an email sent two and a half 
years ago which was for information and which the two people in the conversation agreed and 
the Minister clearly understood that the Minister did not have a role in relation to it.  Maybe 



26

JJE

the Deputy has a better memory than I do but I do not remember all my emails from two and a 
half years ago.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I do not.  If the Department of Justice and Equality had just lost a for-
mer Minister and Garda Commissioner over the treatment of a whistleblower, a commission of 
investigation was under way into the allegations of that whistleblower and it came to light that 
the Garda Commissioner was involved in a strategy to undermine that whistleblower, someone 
at the top of the Department of Justice and Equality not having thought that was relevant or a 
matter of concern is shocking.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: These matters will be examined by a senior counsel.  If it is found 
that we should reasonably have cast the net wider, we will accept that and act differently in the 
future.  I am explaining and trying to lay out the facts of what happened.  That is what happened.

Deputy  Clare Daly: What email client is used by senior officials in the Department of Jus-
tice and Equality?  Is it Lotus Notes 8.5, Microsoft Exchange Server, or what is it?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It is Lotus Notes but we are in the process of transitioning to Mi-
crosoft Exchange Server and half the Department has transitioned.

Deputy  Clare Daly: On Ms McPhillips’s points that the Minister could not get involved 
or give advice, when the email emerged, nobody asked the Minister to interfere in the strategy 
or anything like that.  We are trying to get our heads around the astonishing lack of curiosity 
about the strategy in this correspondence.  We have to take it against the background of what 
happened with the whistleblower issue and the circumstances of the O’Higgins commission 
of investigation.  Does Ms McPhillips not think it was totally remiss of somebody not to have 
contacted the Attorney General’s office on foot of that email and said thanks for that?  Should 
the Minister continue to keep stating that Maurice McCabe has the full support of the Garda 
Commissioner or has that now changed?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The email did not come from the Attorney General’s office.  It was 
generated by an official in the Department and recounts his conversation with a colleague in the 
Attorney General’s office.

Deputy  Clare Daly: So when it became known that a colleague in the Attorney General’s 
office was aware of this, would Ms McPhillips not have asked what was going on?  Her job is 
to advise the Minister.  Should she not have asked if it meant that the position which had been 
stated publicly and repeatedly about the full support of the Garda Commissioner for Maurice 
McCabe had changed?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will go back to the points I made in my opening remarks.  This 
question has been looked at by Mr. Justice Charleton and we have to leave it.  I cannot trespass 
on that.

Deputy  Clare Daly: With respect, I do not agree with Ms McPhillips.  It is about per-
formance of Department of Justice and Equality officials and where their powers were.  Ms 
McPhillips has put up the argument that she advised the Minister on the basis that she could not 
be involved or be seen to influence the ongoing commission.  That was in May 2015.  There 
was no question of the Minister improperly influencing the Commissioner’s strategy in May 
2016 because the commission was over at that stage.  A strategy is not evidence.  Who was re-
sponsible for the Minister’s speeches on repeated occasions when Deputy Wallace and I asked 
about this issue in the House and the Minister responded by talking about things like the alleged 
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stance, being careful regarding as established fact something that is reported as happening at 
the commission that the Minister had no knowledge of, and so on?  Who wrote these speeches 
for the Minister?  Is there a person who would do that?  Who would normally write the Minis-
ter’s speech or send her out with that message given that the defence that it would influence the 
tribunal was over at this stage?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I would stand over the assertions in the speech.  The controversy 
that arose at the time led us to the Charleton tribunal and is what the Charleton tribunal is look-
ing at.

Deputy  Clare Daly: It is not alleged at all.  The transcripts were published in May 2016 
and it is clear in black and white that the Department of Justice and Equality had emails and 
conversations at that stage affirming that it was aware of that strategy.  The impression given in 
the speeches delivered by the former Minister more or less implied that the legal strategy was 
a surprise to her and she had no knowledge of it.  Who would normally write the Minister’s 
speeches?

Chairman: It might be more helpful perhaps not to ask who but what position or respon-
sibility the individual had.  I am taking the same view that I did with Deputy Jack Chambers 
earlier.  Rather than actually naming a colleague, will Ms McPhillips identify the role of the 
individual who presented the Minister with such speeches?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I have a difficulty with the concept behind it.  The whole point of 
the disclosures tribunal is to get to the bottom of what happened regarding the Commissioner’s 
strategy.  In characterising it as an approach that was somewhat mistaken is to prejudge the is-
sue the tribunal is looking at and I just cannot go there.

Chairman: We are not going to be able progress this line of questioning, unfortunately.

Deputy  Clare Daly: The Department’s corporate governance framework 2016 tells us it is 
the Secretary General who has the overall management responsibility for the quality of advice 
submitted to the Minister.  In light of this, will Ms McPhillips comment on the quality of ad-
vice?  Does she think it was appropriate in light of what she now knows?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I think it was entirely appropriate, as I referred to in my opening 
statement.  We would give the same advice again.  It is not a matter in which the Minister can 
intervene regarding a standing commission of investigation or seek to influence somebody’s 
approach.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I did not ask that.  I mentioned the context of when there was not a 
standing commission of investigation, when that was over and the Minister was asked about 
issues of the Commissioner’s attitude to Maurice McCabe.  She was clearly given information 
which said the Commissioner had the full support of Maurice McCabe when officials in the 
Department of Justice and Equality knew that was not so.  In the context that the Department’s 
governance framework states it is the Secretary General who is responsible for that advice and 
that the former Tánaiste and Minister misled the House on this, will there be any penalty for or 
investigation into that?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I cannot accept what the Deputy is saying about the House being 
misled in relation to this.  This is what the tribunal is looking at and I just cannot go there.

Chairman: Would Deputy Daly like to move on?
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Deputy  Clare Daly: The management board meetings have standing items on them, name-
ly, current topical issues, and media and communications matters.  In 2015, was the issue of the 
Commissioner’s legal strategy ever discussed as one of the topical issues at the board meeting, 
particularly in and around May 2015 or July 2015?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Certainly not.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Does Ms McPhillips not think that is a bit surprising when three of 
the management board members were privy to this material and RTÉ at the time clearly knew 
something was afoot?  Does Ms McPhillips not think this was a bit strange that two headings 
which were items were not discussed?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The question of what was afoot or what that constituted is a matter 
for the disclosures tribunal.  The advice proffered to the Minister and supported again by the 
Attorney General is that the Minister had no role.  There are many things in which the Minister 
has a role and those are the issues-----

Deputy  Clare Daly: Under media and communications matters, there is correspondence 
from RTÉ on this.  The Department’s corporate framework states the board expects that matters 
of major strategic importance, or which would give rise to significant risk, will be brought to the 
attention of the board through the relevant responsible member.  Given that the legal strategy 
was clearly a matter of strategic importance which gave rise to serious and significant risk to 
both An Garda Síochána and the Department, if they were not raised there, has anyone faced a 
sanction or a reprimand for not fulfilling their contractual obligations in this situation?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It would not have been appropriate for the board to discuss this in 
the context of a sitting tribunal and the fact the Minister had no role in it.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I put it to Ms McPhillips that this is patently not the case.  It is poor 
governance and blatant disregard for the Department’s procedures.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I do not accept that.

Deputy  Clare Daly: The Toland report made a point about the Department’s deferential 
and passive approach to An Garda Síochána.  How would Ms McPhillips describe the current 
relationship?  Will she give some examples of how the relationship is no longer deferential?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There is a governance agreement in place with An Garda Sío-
chána which details the extent of the governance requirements.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: There is an overall governance agreement.  The Secretary Gen-
eral meets the Commissioner formally two or three times a year under the agreement.  We 
have monthly meetings where I, or the Garda chief administrative officer, CAO, or the deputy 
Garda commissioner meet to discuss ongoing issues, especially around resources, staffing and 
so forth.  There are tripartite meetings of governance between ourselves, the Policing Authority 
and the Commissioner.  There is one in the next week or two.  There is quite an extensive formal 
governance arrangement in place to ensure engagement between the Department, the Commis-
sioner and, on occasion, the Policing Authority.

On the characterisation of the relationship being deferential, I would describe the relation-
ship as a respectful one between two important organs of the State dealing with important is-
sues.
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Deputy  Clare Daly: Did Mr. O’Callaghan not agree with Toland’s categorisation or have 
matters changed in the meantime?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: I would describe it now as a respectful relationship.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Much has evolved since the Toland report.  It is three and half 
years since the report.  The Policing Authority did not exist in the middle of 2014.  It has been 
established in the meantime.  The framework of governance which Mr. O’Callaghan referred to 
has been established since then.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Does the Department accept the Toland report in all of its aspects?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The Department accepted the Toland report fully at the time.

Deputy  Clare Daly: We know from the Fennelly commission that the former Garda Com-
missioner, Martin Callinan, had a close relationship with the former Secretary General of the 
Department.  There were between 30 and 40 texts per month between the two, which works 
out at one a day.  We know Ken O’Leary was almost always sent the same text.  Was the 
level of contact enjoyed between Martin Callinan and Brian Purcell replicated between Nóirín 
O’Sullivan and Noel Waters?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The Commissioner of the day and the Secretary General of the 
day have a professional relationship.  It is based on the Garda Síochána Act 2005.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I was not implying they were having an affair.  Was it the same as the 
previous incumbents’ contact?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: What flow from that legal framework are a degree of contact and 
a flow of information.  That is necessary to run both organisations.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Is it that they were in regular contact or were they not?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I could not comment on the extent of it.  The Commissioner the 
Deputy is referring to is no longer in her post and the Secretary General is no longer serving.  
There is much contact between the Secretary General and the Garda Commissioner as well as 
between other officials and gardaí.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Is daily contact a bit excessive or indicative of a bit too close a rela-
tionship?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: If we are obtaining information in work and there is a flow of 
information from An Garda Síochána, then people characterise it as too close.  If we are not 
getting information, people want us to get more.  This is one of the inherent difficulties in which 
the Department has found itself consistently over the years.  There are obviously matters the 
Minister needs to know and there are matters in which the Minister does not get involved.  The 
Department’s role is to brief and inform the Minister on such matters.

Chairman: It is probably too early for Ms McPhillips to make any comparable judgment on 
her relationship with the Commissioner.

Deputy  Clare Daly: How many governance meetings have been held since the Toland 
report?  Has the issue of the current treatment of whistleblowers in An Garda Síochána been 
raised at any of these meetings?  I do not want details but will Ms McPhillips confirm if the 
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matter has been raised?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There is a standing item on the governance meeting’s agendas 
about whistleblowers in the context of policy and the roll-out of An Garda Síochána’s protected 
disclosure policy, along with the growth of the relationship with Transparency International, 
which has been a positive influence over the past 12 months.  This is a developing process.

Deputy  Clare Daly: How many governance meetings have there been?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The framework requires two a year.  As Mr. O’Callaghan referred 
to, there is also a tripartite meeting involving the authority, the Department and An Garda Sío-
chána.

Deputy  Clare Daly: What really screams out from the emails is the complete lack of sur-
prise in the strategy shown for the people who received the emails on 15 May and 4 July.  We 
have to see this in the context of the backdrop of what was taking place at the time.  I find it 
almost unbelievable to think there was not further discussion on these issues through commu-
nication, dialogue and further emails.  Was there?  If there was not, are the witnesses happy to 
confirm on the record that nobody at a senior level in the Department at the time had any inkling 
that the Commissioner was less than 100% behind Sergeant McCabe?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Once again, if I go there I am stepping on the tribunal’s terms of 
reference.

Deputy  Clare Daly: I would think Ms McPhillips is not, but I suppose there is not a whole 
lot we can do about it.

Chairman: That is Ms McPhillips’s prerogative and her judgment and we have to accept it.  
I thank Deputy Daly for her contributions.

Senator  Martin Conway: Ms McPhillips worked with the former Minister of State, Sena-
tor Ó Ríordáin, I presume.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Absolutely, yes.

Senator  Martin Conway: What did she think of his recent comments, when he described 
the Department of Justice and Equality as being an interesting animal operating in a building 
with reinforced bullet-proof glass and that the people who work there walk with a certain swag-
ger and deem themselves to be very important?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I have no wish to comment or turn to any controversy.  I note Mr. 
O’Callaghan is laughing because he works in an office where the windows are almost falling in 
and there is certainly no bullet-proof glass.

Senator  Martin Conway: He is a former Minister of State from not too long ago.  He is 
only out of office 18 months.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not aware of any bullet-proof glass.

Senator  Martin Conway: His comments in the Seanad recently were not complimentary 
of the Department.  However, that is his view.  He is somebody I have regard for and I take 
his views seriously.  In her opening statement, Ms McPhillips stated that 800 managers have 
attended training.  That is quite remarkable and it is only a point of note-----
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Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It was 1,800 actually.

Senator  Martin Conway: Was it 800 managers?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: A total of 1,800 staff have-----

Senator  Martin Conway: The Department has a staff of 2,500 altogether.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Yes.

Senator  Martin Conway: Of whom 800 are managers.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: What I said was 800 managers have attended specific training.

Senator  Martin Conway: That is quite a low ratio.  Will Mr. McPhillips define what is her 
definition of customer?  Who does the Department define as its customer?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Different aspects of the Department have different customers.  
There are staff in Dublin Airport in the immigration border control unit.  There are people in 
INIS dealing with re-entry visas.  It entirely depends.  The Senator referred to the ratio.  It is a 
policy Department, by and large, with some very large processing areas which, obviously, have 
a lot of staff.  Policy is a different type of animal and we do not have large tracts of-----

Senator  Martin Conway: Does Ms McPhillips consider the Minister to be a customer?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Absolutely, and the Government and the public, as I said in my 
remarks, are customers.

Senator  Martin Conway: Does Ms McPhillips think the Department failed the Govern-
ment, given the fact the Taoiseach had to correct the record of the Dáil on two occasions be-
cause of the information supplied to him from the Department?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: As I said earlier, Senator, it is a matter of regret to me that the 
Taoiseach felt he was not fully briefed on that occasion.

Senator  Martin Conway: Does Ms McPhillips consider it unacceptable?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I definitely regret that the Taoiseach felt he was not fully briefed.

Senator  Martin Conway: Does Ms McPhillips consider it unacceptable, “yes” or “no”?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There was a context to it, and the context was the legal position.  
We have an attachment to the law in the Department and it would be odd if we did not.  Maybe 
there was less of an emphasis on other information rather than on the strictly legal position.

Senator  Martin Conway: Ms McPhillips said to one of my colleagues earlier she was 
disappointed that the Taoiseach described the Department as dysfunctional, and yet she does 
not think it was unacceptable.  She has given a roundabout reason for not saying “yes” or “no” 
as to whether it was unacceptable.  Ms McPhillips does not need to be briefed on this.  She has 
failed to say whether she thinks it is unacceptable that the Taoiseach ended up misleading the 
Dáil because of information that came from a Department which, I have to agree with him, on 
the face of it seems dysfunctional.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The Senator is entitled to his view but I do not agree with it.
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Senator  Martin Conway: Will Ms McPhillips explain how the Minister, Deputy Flana-
gan, received a phone call from the previous Secretary General who informed him that he was 
retiring and brought to his attention the existence of a document, which we now know was an 
email?  During the course of the conversation, the Minister, Deputy Flanagan, requested that 
information be passed on to the disclosures tribunal.  When a Minister makes a request such as 
this what happens?  What is the next action that is taken after this?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will ask Mr. O’Callaghan to explain in detail the action that 
happened after that.  We sought a view from the Office of the Attorney General on the email 
to make sure it was not covered by privilege.  We were not seeking not to disclose it; we were 
making sure that we could disclose it.

Senator  Martin Conway: Was the Minister informed the Department needed to seek the 
advice of the Attorney General before it could pass it on to the disclosures tribunal?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The Secretary General mentioned to the Minister in the course of 
that conversation that we would need to get a legal view on it.  That is my understanding.  Obvi-
ously I was not party to the conversation.

Senator  Martin Conway: It is quite remarkable that it took eight days.  Would Ms McPhil-
lips agree that was too long-----

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It took five working days.

Senator  Martin Conway: -----based on the media interest in it?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It took five working days.  I do not think anything particularly 
turns on it but, obviously, the tribunal can have a view on that if it has a difficulty with it.  If the 
Senator reads the acknowledgement the tribunal sent to us subsequent to us sending the email 
to it on 21 November, its letter of 22 November certainly acknowledges it was of assistance to 
it and it does not reprimand us in any way for what the Senator perceives as a delay.

Senator  Martin Conway: Ms McPhillips spoke to other colleagues earlier about making a 
judgment call.  Would a judgment call not have sufficed in terms of providing the email to the 
tribunal?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: To provide it on the day after?

Senator  Martin Conway: On the Monday or Tuesday, yes.  Subsequently it transpired 
there was no issue with passing on the email.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: As I said, we have an attachment to the law.  We are the Depart-
ment of Justice and Equality.  It seems to me it would be sensible to get a legal view to make 
sure there is no difficulty.  The other thing done over those few days was that a further trawl 
was done to see whether there were any other relevant emails so we could make a disclosure of 
everything at the same time rather than-----

Senator  Martin Conway: We have heard a lot of commentary about submissions and 
emails, and the difference between a submission to a Minister and an email.  Have there been 
many submissions on whistleblowers in general to Ministers over the past couple of years?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We have a new electronic submission system, which started in 
2015 and was rolled out fully in 2016.  I gather that more than 1,000 e-submissions have been 
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sent to the Minister.  Obviously not all of them relate to whistleblowers but a significant propor-
tion of them are on the policing side.  It is a very busy side of the Department.

Senator  Martin Conway: In Mr. Justice Charleton’s commentary, and in his call last Feb-
ruary for co-operation with the tribunal, he called on all parties who had information that was 
relevant to pass it on.  Notwithstanding the specific request made of the Department, and I note 
it has made some voluntary disclosures outside of this, I am flabbergasted, to be quite honest, 
that Ms McPhillips would contend that an overload of information to the tribunal would be 
inappropriate.  I would think that is a judgment call the Department did not have the authority 
to make.  It is a judgment call the Charleton tribunal has the authority to make.  I contend the 
Department did not co-operate with the tribunal.  It should have given every note, email and 
piece of documentation to the tribunal, and it would have been for the tribunal to go through 
it and decide whether it was relevant.  Does Ms McPhillips agree now, in hindsight, that was a 
mistake?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: As I said earlier, the orders from the tribunal were on specific is-
sues and documents.

Senator  Martin Conway: I will stop Ms McPhillips there.  I am fully aware of the orders 
from the tribunal and-----

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Sorry Chair, can I answer the question?

Chairman: It is a clarification from the Senator as to what he is asking, and I ask Ms 
McPhillips to allow him and I will bring her back in directly.

Senator  Martin Conway: I am fully aware of the orders.  I am also fully aware that to be 
fair the Department did make some voluntary disclosures.  Do the officials now think it would 
have been more appropriate to provide all documents, regardless of whether the Department 
deemed them to be relevant, and let the tribunal decide on their relevance?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We still do not think that is the case.  Having regard to the extent 
of the documentation on all of these matters or that might in retrospect be deemed to touch on 
things, in mentioning people’s names or whatever else, it would not have been of assistance to 
Judge Charleton.  It would not have been of assistance in any legal proceedings to land every 
single piece of paper ever generated on a matter.  I will ask my colleague to expand on the mat-
ter, if the Senator wishes.

Chairman: I ask Senator Martin Conway to, please, allow Mr. O’Callaghan to comment.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: To be fair, the Secretary General has set out the position.  There 
are, conceivably, tens of thousands of documents that could, to one extent or another, deal 
with or refer to individuals or cases that relate to people involved in the tribunal.  To the best 
of our knowledge, most of them have nothing to do with the tribunal.  Most of it is stuff that 
has already been gone through by various previous commissions.  The tribunal is looking at 
net points as regards what happened at the commission and other such matters.  The Secretary 
General is right.  We discovered what we were asked to discover.  We discovered other things 
that we knew were directly relevant.  As she said, in the past few weeks we uncovered a couple 
of emails which have been provided.  Even at this stage, it would not be our view that we should 
discover to the tribunal every single document in the Department related to anybody remotely 
connected to the tribunal.
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Senator  Martin Conway: The Taoiseach ordered the Department to conduct a trawl and 
documents were put together over a five-day period.  Has the Department handed over the docu-
ments to the tribunal?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Yes.

Senator  Martin Conway: I shall return to my original point and paraphrase Justice Char-
leton’s call for co-operation.  In February he called on all parties who had any information that 
might be relevant to provide same.  It now transpires that the Department has documents that 
were relevant and that it decided what it should hand over to the tribunal.  It has emerged that 
not alone were there a couple of emails but also other documents that the Department has now 
handed over to the tribunal.  Does the Secretary General accept that her Department did not co-
operate fully with the tribunal based on what it has had to do since?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: These are matters on which the tribunal may take a view and I do 
not propose to trespass into them.  As the Senator will be aware, the Government is appointing 
a person to conduct an external review.  Obviously, if there are lessons to be learned from it, we 
will apply them.

On the core point, it is not that we had the emails.  We did not look at the emails and say, 
“That is not relevant.”  We did not have the emails when the original trawl was made.

Senator  Martin Conway: Does the Secretary General agree that the Taoiseach’s conten-
tion that the Department is dysfunctional has been proved?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: As I said, I disagree with that contention and his characterisation 
of same.

Senator  Martin Conway: That is fine.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: I thank the Secretary General and her officials for coming.  I do not 
believe I will have a productive time in asking questions because I will go over some ground 
that has been covered before and I am not doing so because I like to hear the sound of my own 
voice.  I am doing so because there is complete inconsistency in the way the officials have 
answered questions.  Perhaps that is because I have not been a Deputy for donkey’s years and 
have not had the privilege or pleasure of having officials from the Department before me at a 
committee and these may be the standard responses.

Let us start with what I do not understand and see if I can tease out the matter.  My com-
ments will very much follow on from what Senator Martin Conway and Deputy Clare Daly 
raised with the officials.  In her opening statement the Secretary General said: 

Discovery orders were received in February, April and September 2017.  These orders 
were fully complied with and documentation was compiled and forwarded to the tribunal in 
February, May and September. 

She contends that her Department fully complied with the discovery order.  If so, why was ad-
ditional information sent to the tribunal?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It was due to the fact that there were two processes.  I am sorry that 
the Deputy believes I have not answered the questions, but I am honestly doing my best.  There 
were three discovery orders in February, April and September and they were fully complied 
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with.  There were then a number of voluntary disclosures, including three protected disclosures, 
reports from the Garda Commissioner under section 41 of the Garda Síochána Act and, most 
recently, the email chain.  As other members will be familiar with, sometimes it is required that 
one obtain an order to discover documents.  Some will be covered or may be legally privileged 
and an order of the tribunal is the most effective way to discover thelm.  We seek an order to do 
this and it is complied with.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: The Department did not comply fully in sending documentation 
until the events of the past few weeks and the discovery of the additional emails which the 
Secretary General says she did not know of or did not have, but obviously the Department did 
have them as they were available within it.  The Secretary General did not look for them either 
because she did not think it was worth her while to do so or else, somehow or other, she did 
look for them and made a value judgment that they were not relevant.  Her argument is that she 
did not look for them.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: That is a fact.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: To outsiders looking in from the outside, that seems to be very 
difficult to believe.  The Secretary General does two things and does them very well.  She advo-
cates that the Department is a huge organisation comprising thousands and thousands of staff, 
but I am absolutely sure thousands and thousands of staff do not receive emails concerning 
high-level decisions, interaction between Ministers and between An Garda Síochána and the 
Department.  I imagine that the number involved is very small, as Deputy Clare Daly alluded to.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Correct.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: Why then would the Secretary General decide not to look at ev-
erything concerning the people involved?  I ask because she subsequently decided following 
a further trawl, to which I will get, that took just a few days that she could uncover additional 
relevant information.  On the original email, while not reprimanding her for not sending it, she 
used the expression that the Charleton tribunal had come back to her to state the additional 
information would be of assistance to it.  Therefore, it found that the information which the 
Department has supplied to it would be of assistance to it.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The tribunal thanked us.  I cannot remember the exact words used, 
but the letter has been published.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: The words the Secretary General used were that it would be “of 
assistance” to it.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.  I think it thanked us for our assistance, which is slightly dif-
ferent.  I do not want to be pedantic with the Deputy.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: That information has been provided and the Secretary General 
deemed it to be relevant.  Why did she not seek it the first time?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: To go back to Mr. O’Callaghan-----

Deputy  Colm Brophy: I cannot understand the following.  The Secretary General has 
said one cannot include a name in a Google search or anything like it and come up with all of 
the tens of thousands of documents available.  The Department engaged in a process, a further 
trawl that had been requested by the Taoiseach, which produced additional information.  The 
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further trawl was completed within a number of days.  Why did someone in the Department 
not conduct a trawl?  Perhaps it was Mr. O’Callaghan who was in charge of it, but it did not 
actually do this.  I want someone to explain to me why a trawl was not made?  I am not asking 
the Secretary General to look for tens of thousands of documents and seek obscure references 
in one tiny document.  Core people had information which seemed to be very pertinent.  How 
can the Secretary General stand over her statement that she had complied fully with everything 
in the original request?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I said we had complied with the discovery orders.  As I explained 
to other members, they covered a certain defined amount of documentation.  They were com-
plied with fully.  That is why I say so and I have not said it to sound clever or be disrespectful.  I 
have stated a fact.  That is what happened.  We know that it has been suggested - members have 
suggested it - our initial discovery was inadequate.  We also know that senior counsel has been 
appointed to examine the matter, which we welcome.  As I said and have repeated, we will learn 
lessons from any finding made in that process.  In the meantime, we sent the extra material to 
the tribunal, as and when it was identified.  I am not sure whether-----

Deputy  Colm Brophy: It was done by the Secretary General’s own actions.  She decided 
that the Department’s initial trawl did not comply fully because additional information was sent 
to the tribunal.  It seems that she wants to say both things simultaneously.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.  We were asked to carry out an additional trawl by the Min-
ister.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: Yes.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We did that and sent on the information.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: The Department sent on additional information.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Yes, we did.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: Would it not have been correct for the Department to have found it 
originally and sent it as part of its original-----

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I mean-----

Deputy  Colm Brophy: I do not understand why Ms McPhillips cannot accept that to be the 
case.  Would she get into trouble for doing so?  Am I missing something?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.  If we had found it, we would not necessarily be sitting here.  
It would be a different kind of morning.  This matter will be examined by senior counsel to see 
whether we acted inappropriately in the first instance.  I am happy to wait for that examination.  
In the meantime, we have complied with the orders.  That is as far as I can put it.  Perhaps Mr. 
O’Callaghan might have something to add.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: No.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: I have one more question.  During this discussion Ms McPhillips 
has given multiple answers about the tens of thousands of documents that would have to be 
looked at.  Will she explain to me the process that was engaged in in the further trawl?  Were 
tens of thousands of documents involved?  Did the Department make another value judgment 
that it was not going to look at so many documents?  Did it select a cross-section that it con-
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sidered to be relevant?  In the case of the further trawl, what was done in the Department to 
ascertain that it had really got to the bottom of what was in its possession somewhere?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: What was done was more or less what has been suggested by 
the Deputy and Deputy Clare Daly.  There is a finite number of officials and their emails were 
trawled.  It involved tens of thousands of emails in the period from December 2014, when 
the commission was established, to May 2016, when it published its report.  The emails were 
trawled.  The committee should be in no doubt that the trawl involved tens of thousands of 
emails.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: Was the trawl confined to emails?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: In my understanding, yes.  The paper files would already have 
been examined.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: The email trawl went beyond the policing division because people 
had moved on.  The paper files were all within the policing division.  They would have been 
considered at the time of the previous discovery order.  Anything that was considered relevant 
had already been sent to the tribunal.  These emails went beyond the policing division.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We have electronic records in what we call document libraries.  I 
think they were trawled beyond anything that could be tangentially associated with this matter.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: I thank the officials.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: Ms McPhillips has offered the view that a great deal 
of work goes on in this hard-working Department, in which many committed public servants 
are working.  There is no question about that.  The view expressed by Ms McPhillips is shared 
by all members of the committee and all Members of the Dáil, but as a committee, we have a 
responsibility.  There has been an effort in the media to dismiss this issue and everything con-
nected to it as something of a phantom, particularly in relation to some representatives of the 
Government.  Obviously, the treatment of a whistleblower is an issue of serious public concern.  
There is great interest in the actions that could and should have been taken by the Minister and 
the Department.  We need to learn more about their responsibility for and knowledge of the ap-
proach taken to the whistleblower in question.  Notwithstanding the work the Department does, 
it is important that these issues be explored carefully.

I have a number of questions.  In her opening statement Ms McPhillips said:

Irrespective of the topic, the Department’s advice to a Minister would consistently be 
that he or she should not be involved in any way in a case to be presented by a party before 
a commission.  Department officials also gave evidence to the commission, as they have to 
previous commissions, and they certainly did not consult or inform the Minister or the De-
partment in relation to their evidence.  It would have been quite improper for them to do so.

In that case, why was the Minister informed?  Why was it felt, on foot of conversations with 
the Office of the Attorney General or the officials who had taken note of these conversations, 
that it was necessary for the Minister to be informed?  There is a degree of inconsistency in 
saying the Minister had no relationship and nothing to do with anything that was happening at 
the commission, given that she was kept briefed and informed about what was happening there.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It is hard for me to get into the thoughts that were in the officials’ 
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minds at the time.  I agree that there appears to be a contradiction in that regard.  I will try to 
help the Deputy by seeking to get into the officials’ minds for a second.  My impression is that 
the conversation centred on a row that had happened, or a dispute between counsel, to put it in 
its mildest terms.  I suppose there would have been a possibility that it might have been become 
public, despite the private nature of the proceedings.  There was a sense that the Minister should 
become aware of it in case it became public and that she was unaware of it.  That is speculation 
on my part, but I am saying it to be helpful.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: Is it possible that informing the Minister was not the 
right course of action?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We err on the side of informing the Minister.  When we do not 
inform the Minister of things, it does not go so well.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: There has been a fair degree of discussion about the 
specific nature of the discovery orders.  Is it possible to itemise or summarise the various dis-
covery orders made?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: My colleague, Mr. O’Callaghan, will give some detail of the dis-
covery orders that were made in February, April and September.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: The February order was related to transcripts and recordings at the 
O’Higgins commission.  The September order was related to the Harrison-Tusla module of the 
tribunal, as was the April module, as far as I can see.  There may have been one in May, too.  
The February order was related to the transcripts and commission proceedings.  I will come 
back to the Deputy on the April order.  I cannot recall exactly what it entailed.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: There were orders in February, April and September.  
It is relevant.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: I am sorry, the second order was in May.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: Okay.  At this moment the officials are not able to tell 
us what the nature of that discovery order was.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: As it is a matter for the tribunal, the extent to which it is appropri-
ate-----

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Yes.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I have notes on its broad strokes.  I do not want to get into the 
detail of stuff that is a matter for the tribunal.  Clearly, this is a matter for it because it was the 
subject of an order from it.  It has been discovered in compliance with that order.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: I appreciate that.  The officials are asking us to accept 
that the emails were not handed over because they had not been asked for, but they cannot tell 
us what was asked for in May.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We have a schedule, but it is a broad-brush schedule.  I will give 
the Deputy as much detail as I can and will get it to him afterwards.  I need some advice on 
whether it is appropriate to do so and I am being genuine in saying that.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: Okay.  That is something of a difficulty because we are 
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trying to gain an understanding of what was appropriate to hand over.  We are not dealing with 
complete information at the committee.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I can appreciate the difficulty for the Deputy.

Chairman: With respect, it is a difficulty for the committee because I imagine we would all 
like to know exactly what it was referencing.  That is not a very difficult request to make.

Deputy  Colm Brophy: I would like to ask a question that might help.  Can the officials dis-
close whether a catch-all line that refers to “all relevant material” or something like it is used?

Chairman: Even that would be useful.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Can the Department publish the discovery orders?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Our advice is that we cannot.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: The Department is telling us about them.  It is stating it can give 
us a catch-all summary, but that it cannot publish them.  As it is referring to them, why can it 
not publish them?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We have been advised that we cannot publish them.  We were 
asked to publish them last week.  We were then advised that we could not do so.  Obviously, we 
have given this material to the tribunal.  It comes within the terms of reference.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Why are the officials talking about them?

Chairman: No, Deputy.  We will come back to Deputy Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire’s question.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am trying to be of as much assistance as I can.

Chairman: I think the interventions of my colleagues confirm what I have said to the of-
ficials.  Can Ms McPhillips answer the question about-----

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The detail of the discovery orders.

Chairman: Yes.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I cannot do so at this moment.  I have a schedule.  I need a few 
minutes to look at it to see if the material is contained in it.  As the Chairman will appreciate, 
there has been an enormous amount of material to prepare for the committee in order to be of 
assistance to it.  I am happy to come back in a couple of weeks to try to be of further assistance.  
A lot of preparatory work has been done to try to answer the committee’s questions, in so far as 
I can, bearing in mind that I am legally advised of certain constraints in that respect.

Chairman: In the absence of the information being available now, will Ms McPhillips un-
dertake to furnish it to the clerk for circulation to members of the committee?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will do so in so far as possible while bearing in mind the legal 
advice.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: I appreciate that.  That information needs to be pro-
vided.  Although much documentation has to be prepared, much of the discussion has been in 
regard to what was asked for and I am unsure as to what that was, which is a big problem.
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As regards those of which the witnesses are aware, would the process of preparing the docu-
mentation to be submitted in the discovery orders have included searches of email accounts, in 
particular those of the six senior Department of Justice and Equality officials that were refer-
enced in the most recent emails discovered?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will ask Mr. O’Callaghan to take that question.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: “No” is the straightforward answer.  The first order I mentioned, 
which is the transcripts and recordings of the O’Higgins commission, is very specific.  We pro-
vide the transcripts and recordings, they are handed over to the tribunal and, thus, the order is 
complied with.  There would be no question of seeing if there are any emails related to them 
because they stand on their own.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: That is one of three discovery orders.  Did the other 
two discovery orders involve a search of email accounts, in particular those of the six senior 
officials?

Mr. John O’Callaghan: Not to the best of my knowledge.  In the discovery order I refer-
enced, we had files relating to the particular module the tribunal was considering and they were 
provided to the tribunal.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I have a little more detail that might be helpful to the committee.  
The discovery orders related to the records of the O’Higgins commission, as Mr. O’Callaghan 
has said.  They related to certain cases which had been considered by the independent review 
mechanism, a representation to the Minister, a report of a GSOC investigation and records 
related to the allegation of contacts between the Garda and Tusla in regard to Garda Harrison, 
which module has just concluded.  Those are the parameters of the order made by the tribunal.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: To the best of the witnesses’ knowledge, there was no 
trawl of emails related to any of the discovery orders.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.  I completely understand why the Deputy asked me about the 
details before asking that question because if one considers the detail of the orders, they do not 
relate to emails but, rather, largely to physical files.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: The point has been made that it would not be of as-
sistance to the commission or tribunal for there to be such a trawl which could potentially pro-
duce a large number of documents, yet the trawl that has taken place has produced two chains 
of emails which will be helpful as it is difficult to see that they would not be.  I share the view 
expressed by Deputy Brophy that it is difficult to credit that statement.

As regards the correspondence on 4 July relating to media inquiries, would it be common-
place to have that level of communication and co-ordination between the Department and the 
Garda press office on such media queries?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It is not commonplace but happens from time to time with a view 
to ensuring the Minister has the complete picture.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: Is it correct that the Minister was informed on 13 No-
vember?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Yes, on Monday, 13 November.
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Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: He stated that he was informed by telephone of the 
broad parameters of the email’s contents but was not sent the email and did not inquire as to 
the nature of the row or legal dispute at the O’Higgins commission.  On the same date, a press 
release was issued by the Department in the name of the Minister and related specifically to 
the O’Higgins commission, the legal approach taken there and the legal advice available to the 
Department.  Who prepared that press release?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The Minister has dealt with that matter in the House and I can-
not put it beyond that.  The press release was issued in the name of the Minister and he has 
explained the context for it.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: It is difficult to accept that he received such a phone 
call and issued a press release of that nature but did not seek further detail on the nature of the 
legal query, perhaps on foot of receiving a draft of the press release.

How was the documentation discovered on 9 November?   How was it initially found?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: As I said, we were getting a series of parliamentary questions and 
press queries that assumed a certain amount of knowledge of the Department and we did not 
know what they regarded.  They mainly centred on a meeting and briefings that had taken place.  
We had no knowledge or record of those and were trying to figure it out.  Another parliamen-
tary question and press query came in that mentioned the date of 15 May and, on foot of that, 
peoples’ diaries were searched for 15 May and records and emails were examined and it was in 
that context that the email surfaced.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: Will Ms McPhillips read into the record which parlia-
mentary question specifically led to the discovery of the email?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: If my memory is correct, four parliamentary questions arrived that 
day for answer the following week and referenced 15 May 2016.  However, both 15 May 2015 
and 15 May 2016 were considered.  The commission was extant in 2015 and that was, therefore, 
the more logical date to use.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: A point regularly relied upon is that it would have been 
improper for the Minister to get involved in the process at the commission.  The use of the word 
“improper” is quite specific.  The Tánaiste, Deputy Coveney, made specific reference in the 
Seanad to the fact that neither the Minister nor any other party should interfere with the adduc-
ing of evidence at a commission.  Does Ms McPhillips accept there is a possible conflation of 
several issues in so far as adducing evidence is a very specific action and what the Department 
considers improper is not necessarily against the law?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: One must consider the Commissions of Investigation Act 2004 
and the fact that the proceedings are held in private.  There are various provisions in the Act in 
regard to the confidentiality of proceedings.  The proceedings are designed to minimise legal 
costs such that any accusations and so on are made in private and legal costs are minimised 
as people do not have to defend their reputations because the accusations are not publicised.  
That is the context as regards a commission of investigation and those are specific provisions 
in the Act.   When departmental officials give evidence they do not consult the Minister or their 
colleagues but, rather, give evidence in respect of their own knowledge and awareness of the 
situation.  I said it would be improper for them to do otherwise

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: On the basis of the first part of Ms McPhillips’ answer, 
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the conversation that led to the first email was in breach of the Act.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: That is one of the questions for the tribunal to determine.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: I understand from media commentary on the issue that 
the Minister noted the first email that emerged into the public domain, which was sent to the 
former Minister, Deputy Fitzgerald, and her staff on foot of the call from the Office of the At-
torney General.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The email of 15 May.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: Was that correspondence noted several weeks later?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Yes.  There was a reply on 25 May to say it had been noted.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: What is the process for a Minister to note a piece of 
correspondence?  What happens to prompt an email?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Obviously, everybody is in touch now on their phones and so 
forth.  We are getting emails and reading them.  The private secretary sent on the email to the 
Minister.  They would be in the habit of printing that off and then going through a bundle at a 
later point, making sure that everything is covered so that in the pace of a day, something is not 
overlooked.  It is at that stage that the private secretary would note it and then write the formal 
email back saying it was noted.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: In the Department’s eyes, does that constitute official 
recognition that the Minister has read the document?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Yes, that is the purpose of it.

Deputy  Donnchadh Ó Laoghaire: Is Ms McPhillips happy to put on record that there was 
no wilful non-disclosure or deliberate non-disclosure of the documents?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Absolutely, yes.

Chairman: I thank Deputy Ó Laoghaire.  I welcome Deputy Alan Kelly to our session this 
morning.  He has some questions he would like to address.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I thank the Chairman and witnesses.  I wish the acting Secretary Gen-
eral the best of luck in her role, as I have done already.  It is certainly a very challenging role.  I 
have a number of questions and I will jump from area to area.  I had been listening and watch-
ing some of the committee proceedings earlier.  I could not watch it all unfortunately.  I refer 
to the four parliamentary questions I tabled and to which Ms McPhillips referred earlier.  I just 
happened to walk in at the same time.  Is it not astounding that when I asked the Department 
of Justice and Equality a question which relates to particular events on 15 May, all of a sudden 
these emails were found?  As we all know, 15 May is a critical date with regard to the whole 
issue of the O’Higgins commission.

I have listened to the various different answers given to Deputies and Senators regarding 
discovery and the format of discovery and so on.  I believe Deputy Clare Daly went through 
the terms of reference earlier on and if one looks at them, there are documents that obviously 
and clearly were required by the Charleton tribunal.  I cannot understand how correspondence 
on that specific date was not provided.  It was only after questions were put in, followed up by 
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the media and mounting pressure, that all of a sudden this email arrived.  The following cor-
respondence comes on from that. 

Does Ms McPhillips understand that from the public point of view, they cannot comprehend 
how this is the case?  Frankly, they just do not believe it.  

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not sure what the Deputy’s question is.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Does Ms McPhillips accept it is not credible to say this information, 
not given to the tribunal initially, could not be found and given to the tribunal?  Thereafter, all 
of a sudden, once a few defined parliamentary questions were asked, the information was found 
and eventually given to the tribunal.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: To attempt to answer the Deputy’s question, whether it is credible 
is a matter for other people.  I am telling Deputy Kelly the facts as known to me.  That is what 
happened, as I just explained to Deputy Ó Laoghaire.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Let us go through this.  A small number of people are at high level in 
the policing section in the Department of Justice and Equality.  I am a former information tech-
nology manager.  I know questions were asked in respect of clients for email servers.  However, 
it is not credible that in a discovery phase, in searches for “O’Higgins” and “McCabe”, infor-
mation could not have been initially pulled up across eight to ten emails, or broader, initially.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We have already discussed at length the question of the discovery 
orders from the tribunal-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I do not buy that.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: -----and what they covered.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I do not believe that.  I honestly cannot-----

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: They covered specific issues.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is no excuse to say that just because there are specific discovery 
orders, that we did not provide information.  In fact-----

Chairman: We must allow Ms McPhillips answer, please.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Yes, I apologise.  I appreciate that.  To clarify, it is not acceptable that 
because there were specific discovery orders, the Department did not provide the information.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The way the legal process works is that there are discovery orders.  
They are written orders that require specific amounts of documentation.  None of those orders 
related in any way, shape or form to this issue.  We complied in full with the text of those dis-
covery orders.  Those are the facts, alas.  Perhaps Mr. O’Callaghan might have something to 
add.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: I do not.  We have already discussed this.  We have heard it before.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is very alarming.  I am jumping into this committee today - albeit 
for a reason - but each member is finding out from the Department of Justice and Equality that, 
effectively, it did not provide the information because it was not asked for it.  That is why I had 
to ask the questions that I did and ended in the situation that we did-----
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Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Sorry, that is not what I said.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is what I am surmising.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No, that is not what I said.

Chairman: Would Ms McPhillips like to clarify?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I  have already said, repeatedly, that there was no withholding and 
there was no intention to withhold.  We did not withhold any information.  This email was not 
sitting in anyone’s desk.  It was sitting on a server somewhere.  We did not have access to it 
or we did not seek it.  I have already said there was no withholding.  A senior counsel is being 
appointed to look into these issues.  If there is anything we should do differently, obviously we 
will.  However, I have to say that I am concerned.  We are dependent on the confidence of the 
public and the Government in doing our job.  It is a very onerous job and we try to do it to the 
best of our ability.  I am very concerned at the suggestion that we withheld any information, 
which I have repeatedly said is not the case.  We will do what we can to see what the senior 
counsel says and what we can do differently.  However, there was no intention to withhold or 
withdraw anything.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The facts of the matter are that had I not asked those questions, this in-
formation would not have been provided.  The discovery orders were made and were answered 
specifically.  I can accept that.  What I cannot accept is that in the terms of reference, as read out 
here earlier on, the judge asked for all information to be provided.  Ms McPhillips’s Department 
set up the terms of reference and is the lead Department.  It did not voluntarily look for other 
information to provide outside of these specific orders.  Is anything I said incorrect?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Just one thing.  We are the Department that set up the tribunal but 
we are not leading in relation to the tribunal.  The tribunal is a matter for Mr. Justice Charleton 
under his terms of reference.  We are under the direction of the tribunal.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I think it is fair to state the Department of Justice and Equality is lead-
ing in the supply of information.  I want to move on because I have a number of other questions.  
We got the message from that.

As for the current trawl and the provision of information, today’s proceedings are extreme-
ly worrying.  The idea that there is a whole load of information in the Department and that 
judgment calls are being made as to whether that bank of information is relevant is seriously 
worrying.  As someone who has asked questions on this issue, I would err on the side of the 
Department handing over all this information, rather than having a filtration system itself.  Ob-
viously, the history of this matter over the last number of weeks, months and years does not 
give confidence.  

A number of people who were around during that period are now retired.  On foot of an-
other question I asked, it now is known the phone call made from Garda headquarters to the 
Department of Justice and Equality was brought to the Department’s attention because a retired 
member of staff said he remembered it.  Has the witness asked all those who were senior of-
ficials at the time whether they were using a form of private email client with regard to any 
of this documentation?  If so, has it been discovered?  Has that question been asked of every 
single person who was in the Department at the time and who is relevant to this area?  I refer 
to eight to ten people in the policing area and the Secretaries General.  If not, why not?  If not, 
the Department should do so.
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The people working in the Department are paid by the taxpayer.  They all have mobile 
phones.  Have the records of those mobile phones been provided to the Charleton tribunal as 
part of discovery?  If not, why not?  If not, will the Department do that?  

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: To take the Deputy’s last question first, my understanding is again, 
we have not been asked for that.  Can I finish answering the question before the Deputy reacts 
to it?  I understand the tribunal has asked other organisations for their mobile phone records.  It 
has a team of investigators, as the committee is probably aware, that is conducting its work.  If 
the tribunal asks the Department for those records, of course, we will co-operate with the tri-
bunal.  We co-operate in respect of the things the tribunal asks us to co-operate on.  We would 
do that fully and wholeheartedly.  Those are the circumstances.  It is not a question of being at 
large on this.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The reason for urging Ms McPhillips in regard to this is because there 
are lot of people watching this today who will find her answers unacceptable.  This is a national 
scandal.  I agree that it is unprecedented for the Taoiseach to stand up in the Dáil and say the 
Department is dysfunctional.  This is another example of it.  Just because the Department is not 
being asked certain questions, we are going to have to go through a parliamentary process of 
asking a whole range of questions or going through another process to try to-----

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Can I-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Let me finish my question.  I am asking the Department here and now 
to provide that information to the Charleton tribunal and I cannot understand why it would not 
do it anyway because the terms of reference, which were read out by Deputy Clare Daly or 
others, actually require this and the request from Mr. Justice Charleton requests this informa-
tion as well.  I disagree with Ms McPhillips shaking her head.  Mr. Justice Charleton made a 
fairly blunt statement asking anyone who had any information to provide it.  It makes me very 
nervous - extremely nervous - that representatives from the Department are sitting here today 
and are still blanking and saying the Department will not provide that information voluntarily.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I would not want to delay the committee by reading the terms of 
reference of the tribunal but I think it would be helpful to the committee if members were to 
read the terms of reference carefully.  They are from term A to term P, which is why I do not 
want to delay the committee.  The material about which the Deputy is talking is not covered 
by the terms of reference.  We have sent them on in an effort to be helpful because people have 
raised this issue.  The Deputy is shaking his head now.  I am simply telling him the information 
we have.  The Deputy is asking-----

Deputy  Clare Daly: I have to object because I raised terms of reference C, F, G and H ear-
lier and they specifically cover the issues raised.  We already discussed this earlier.  It is black 
and white in the terms of reference.

Chairman: Senator Conway will be coming in shortly.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Can I just-----

Deputy  Clare Daly: Term H specifically provides for contact between members of An 
Garda Síochána and any other State organisation which had knowledge of all of the other things 
in A, B, C and D, which concern a deliberate strategy to use knowledge of a criminal allegation 
against Maurice McCabe.  That is what it is for.
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Chairman: Is Senator Conway’s contribution relevant to what is being discussed at this 
moment?

Senator  Martin Conway: Put it like this, I must say that in my six and a half years as a 
member of the Oireachtas Committee on Justice and Equality, this is probably the most extraor-
dinary meeting I have ever attended.  I have never come across a situation where senior public 
servants have effectively stonewalled.  The bottom line is that the acting Secretary General can-
not accept the fact that regardless of whether or not it was done unwittingly, the Department did 
not co-operate with the Charleton tribunal.  Nobody is saying it was done purposefully but the 
fact that the trawl of documents ordered by the Taoiseach had to be handed over to the tribunal 
proves the point.  Deputy Kelly is right.  I want Ms McPhillips to tell me how many people 
were in charge of the trawl.  How many people were in charge of ensuring that the Department 
co-operated with the tribunal of inquiry?  Everything down to a post-it should have been handed 
over.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will return to what Deputies Daly and Kelly said because we are 
talking about two different things.  When I spoke to Deputy Daly earlier, we were talking about 
the emails that we have since disclosed to the tribunal.  That is a matter of interpretation by the 
tribunal.  Deputy Kelly was talking about private emails, phone records, etc.  That is a separate 
question that has not been raised up to this point.  If the tribunal wants that material, we will 
contact it and ask it if it wants it and if it wants it, we will comply with it.  This is one of the 
difficulties.  I do not mean to be difficult at all but issues are being raised of which we have no 
knowledge.  Perhaps Deputies have more knowledge than we do but we do not have records 
relating to these matters.

Deputy  Clare Daly: In respect of clarifying term H because we discussed it in setting up 
the inquiry, the point about term H is how could Mr. Justice Charleton possibly know what the 
Department might have so that he could specifically ask for it?  The Department is the only 
one which knows what it has and it has been asked to provide it.  We provided information 
and answered the call of Mr. Justice Charleton and we know far less than the Department does.  
The Department has been asked for that.  It is specifically covered.  I do not know why Mr. 
O’Callaghan finds it funny because it is the heart of the matter.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We can explain what we are talking about.

Mr. John O’Callaghan: In the same way as Deputy Daly has asked about this, Mr. Justice 
Charleton has asked specific things.  He has made orders and we have complied with them.  We 
have voluntarily disclosed other items.  If it was considered helpful, we could go to Mr. Justice 
Charleton saying obviously people have mobile phones and there may be other records and if 
he wants to discover those, we will comply but up to now, it has not seemed to us that this was 
required with regard to the terms of reference.  That is all we are saying.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: To be helpful, this sounds weird but would the witnesses please go to 
Mr. Justice Charleton or the tribunal group and ask them if they want the Department to discov-
er everything or discover all strands of every email that has anything to do with the O’Higgins 
commission or Maurice McCabe and all private emails?  Did Department officials have private 
emails?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: Did they have private email accounts?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Did they have private emails that they used for official business?
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Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No, by and large, I do not think that is the case.  To answer the 
Deputy’s first question, I have no difficulty at all going to the tribunal and asking it if it wants 
that material.  The other thing we will have in the next few weeks is the benefit of the external 
review by senior counsel which will make a judgement as to how we have handled the discov-
ery process up until then.  As I said from the beginning of this engagement, if there is anything 
else, any lessons to be learned or any other material we should discover, we will, of course, 
comply with that.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: And the mobile-----

Chairman: Could Deputy Kelly please conclude?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: In fairness, I have lost a lot of time so I have a few questions and I 
appreciate the Chairman’s indulgence.  There will be an external review of what has happened.  
I am very nervous about that because it will be done by an outside senior counsel, fair enough, 
who will ask or look at whether the Department complied with orders.  That is not really the 
question.  Of course, the Department complied with orders.  The question is whether it provided 
all the information relevant outside even the orders that it felt was necessary and the answer to 
that is “No”.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: My understanding is that this is what they will examine.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The issue here is that there are a number of retired officials who are 
obviously very pertinent to this section.  We need to ensure that all the information in their 
heads which could be helpful and all the information that may be on their phones or in their 
emails is all provided and discoverable.

In respect of my next few questions, I am only touching the surface.  In respect of the pub-
lication of the report, there was a meeting in Garda headquarters with the legal team regarding 
the O’Higgins report when it was sent out in provisional form before it was published soon 
afterwards.  RTÉ used the report to make some reports of its own.  Obviously, the report was 
leaked.  We all know about that.  I have asked parliamentary questions regarding the meeting 
that took place in Garda headquarters.  That is separate from the Department.  I do not expect 
the witnesses to have full knowledge of that.  Was the Department aware that this meeting took 
place before the report was leaked?  I have asked this parliamentary question numerous times.  
If the Department was not aware of it, when was it made aware that this meeting took place?  
What did it do about it?  

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It is one of the issues in respect of which I will be in difficulties 
because it is clearly encompassed by the terms of reference of the tribunal.  The question of the 
leak of the report is one of the terms of reference of the tribunal.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: To be fair, I understand that.  We went through this at the Committee 
of Public Accounts.  I am asking a factual question.  This relates to what the Taoiseach said in 
the Chamber last week.  These are factual questions.  I am not asking Ms McPhillips to theo-
rise.  I am not even sure we would be here if these questions were answered on day one.  It is 
either black or white.  The Department either knew it was happening beforehand, at the time 
or afterwards.  We need to know the answers.  These are facts.  In a democratic process, unless 
everything closes and Ministers are not accountable, the questions must be answered.  I have 
repeatedly asked the questions and I cannot get answers.

Chairman: I do not know if the outlook is brighter today.
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Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I can only go by the guidance of the House.  The Ceann Comhairle 
ruled on matters relating to the terms of reference last week.  I cannot go beyond that debate 
last week.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That cannot be accurate because the Ceann Comhairle allowed my 
questions on this matter.  I have got answers to them that are rubbish.  He cannot have ruled 
differently on a subsequent occasion.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There is the question of the leak of the documents.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: This is a breakdown in democracy.  It is a factual question.  I am not 
asking people to theorise if it was right or wrong.  It is like asking if a person had a cup of tea 
yesterday.  This happened and we know that.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We do not.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The Department was either aware of it beforehand, at the time or after-
wards.  When was it aware of it?  These are facts.  If we cannot find out facts in these Houses, 
we may as well close down.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The Deputy is saying that we know it happened but we do not 
have any information about it.  It is a matter that the tribunal is looking at.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: This committee is making the situation worse.

Chairman: I beg the Deputy’s pardon but could he revisit what he just said?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The Chairman is right.  With regard to the knowledge of this informa-
tion, it is just making the position more confused.

Chairman: It is not the committee that is at fault.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is not the committee, of course.  I should have rephrased that.  I 
thank the Chairman for clarifying the position.

Chairman: Not at all.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Yesterday, I received answers to some questions.  There was much 
more text but still very little information.  The Taoiseach referred in the Dáil to the quality of 
answers I am getting and that has not changed.  I am getting much more text but it says noth-
ing.  I asked a question on the Charleton liaison committee.  We all know that there have been 
serious questions about this committee because the Garda Commissioner has used section 41 
of the Garda Síochána Act to raise concerns in respect of it.  This is only the second occasion 
on which that has happened in the State.  The answer - in new information - indicates that the 
Taoiseach and Attorney General have been made aware of the details, along with the tribunal.  
Is that not correct?

From a functional perspective, the Department signed off on this orally in February.  Ques-
tions were being asked and there was approval from the Department of Public Expenditure and 
Reform in May.  That is not normal.  Given that the Department has received a number of legal 
representations from whistleblowers saying they do not believe this unit is fair and should exist, 
or that its operations are helpful to the tribunal, did the Department not raise concerns internally 
about how it was operating?
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Mr. John O’Callaghan: The operation of the office is a matter for the Garda Commissioner 
and that is basically the position.  Sanctioning was discussed at the Committee of Public Ac-
counts last week or the week before.  The Deputy referred to the Taoiseach and so on and we 
have received a section 41 report from the acting Garda Commissioner outlining a number of 
claims and complaints relating to the office.  That section 41 report will now be dealt with by 
the Minister and we will see where it goes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: My question has not been answered.  The Department has correspon-
dence outlining the growing concerns relating to this unit.  Did it not act on that or do something 
about it?  Did it not consider what was happening?  With all the conversation about whistle-
blowers being protected and whistleblowing legislation, serious concerns were being raised 
about the operation of this unit, how it is manned, what it is doing, etc., but the Department did 
nothing.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There are a couple of points.  Correspondence from whistleblow-
ers is subject to the provisions of the Protected Disclosures Act 2014.  I cannot discuss it and 
neither can the Minister.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The Department received correspondence.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not aware of any such disclosures relating to that office.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The bottom line is that concerns were raised with the Department 
regarding the operation of this unit.  They were serious concerns from multiple people, includ-
ing me.  I tabled 25 parliamentary questions.  It is now the subject of a section 41 notification.  
The concerns are real.  Perhaps it is not extraordinary in light of what we know about the De-
partment.  However, it would be extraordinary to think that the Department did not act once in 
respect of these concerns.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We got a section 41 notification last week on this matter.  I think 
it was Monday last week.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: There has been correspondence since last May.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: We have correspondence relating to the establishment of the of-
fice, the request for sanctions and so forth.  I am not aware of concerns having been raised-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Ms McPhillips is not aware of any correspondence from anyone out-
side my parliamentary questions in regard to this.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I cannot put my hand on my heart but-----

Chairman: I thank Deputy Kelly for his presence and intervention.  Deputy Jack Chambers 
has a brief supplementary question.  We will close members’ input at this point.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Did any of the discovery orders contain an order directing that 
any documents relevant to the tribunal’s terms of reference should also be discovered?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Okay.  The Department has indicated that it received legal advice 
about the publication of the discovery orders.  Who gave that legal advice?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: All our advice is from the Attorney General’s office.  I am not sure 
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if it is written advice or an oral view.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Did it authorise the Department to discuss the discovery orders 
today?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I got advice relating to my appearance today and I have tried to 
adhere to that in seeking the Chair’s assistance with regard to these matters.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: The witness got advice to say that she could discuss the discov-
ery orders generally but could not specifically disclose what they were.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The material and answers given to the Deputies have been given 
in reply to parliamentary questions and in response to press queries over the past couple of 
weeks.  I have not gone beyond that.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: There seems to be a contradiction.  There has been reference 
to discovery orders and Mr. O’Callaghan had a page earlier looking at discovery orders in re-
sponse to Deputy Ó Laoghaire.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: In fairness, it is a schedule.  We do not have the orders.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: There is a contradiction.  Could the witnesses seek legal advice 
to publish those to the fullest extent possible?  This would answer some of the serious concerns 
that this committee has about the Department’s compliance with discovery orders.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: There is no problem with examining that matter.  If we are permit-
ted to do so-----

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Would the witness prefer to see the orders published?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: They are tribunal documents and it is not for me to assert things 
with respect to the tribunal.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: I am asking a question relating to transparency and the reputation 
of the Department led by Ms McPhillips.  Would she not think it appropriate for these orders to 
be published immediately?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Does speculation suit the Department on this?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: No, speculation does not suit the Department.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Would Ms McPhillips not agree that it would be better if these 
documents were published?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: It is very difficult to answer the questions because they constantly 
go beyond the initial point.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: They do not.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: They do.  The Deputy is asking me for a view on something that 
is a matter for the tribunal.  With my comments today, I have been trying to ensure that we do 
not trespass on the tribunal’s work.  The tribunal must take a view on all these matters and we 
will clearly co-operate with that fully, as we have to date.
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Deputy  Jack Chambers: Could the Department seek the tribunal’s permission to publish 
the discovery orders?  Would it agree to that request?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is reasonable.  What harm would it do?

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Can or will the officials ask the tribunal to have the discovery 
orders published?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: What harm would there be in doing so?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I can certainly tell it that the committee has suggested this.  I 
would have to get advice on whether any of us is in a position to request anything from the 
tribunal.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: It is a matter of public confidence in the reputation of the Depart-
ment Ms McPhillips leads.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: The tribunal is not an agency of the Department.  It is a judicial 
process and a judicial tribunal.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: Agencies of the Department are connected to the correspondence 
relevant to the terms of reference, which were subsequently discovered through parliamentary 
questions and which have been disclosed to the tribunal.  Clearly, there is a contradiction re-
garding the discovery orders.  Ms McPhillips is stating full compliance with something that 
she cannot disclose.  That is a matter of transparency.  How can we pursue the matter of full 
compliance if Ms McPhillips will not give us the very discovery order to which she is referring?  
We cannot take a view on that because the obfuscation and lack of clarity only results in further 
questions about the integrity of the original statement.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I reject any impugning of my integrity and the Chair should as-
sert-----

Chairman: I did not note any such inference.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: I referred to the Department.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am sorry if I misunderstood but I heard the word integrity being 
used in the context of my answers.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: I was talking about the Department.  I specifically mentioned the 
Department.

Chairman: The Deputy did not mean Ms McPhillips personally.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am here giving answers on behalf of the Department and I have 
done my best on that.  The tribunal exists as a judicial body and we have to respect that.

Deputy  Jack Chambers: I ask that Ms McPhillips make that request.

Senator  Martin Conway: Perhaps the Secretary General might like to reflect on her con-
stant assertion that the Department fully complied with the tribunal, particularly in view of the 
fact that significant additional information had to be provided to it.  She might like to correct 
the record of the committee in that regard in order to protect the integrity of her Department.
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Chairman: Ms McPhillips is very welcome to respond to the Senator’s contribution in tan-
dem with my question.  I want to properly convey the importance of Deputy Jack Chamber’s 
request.  I believe it has the imprimatur of the committee and is not just an individual request.  I 
know, from the assent of members here, that we are all asking that Ms McPhillips seek a green 
light to publish, as has been requested.

Ms McPhillips made the point about other means of communication being explored in re-
sponse to Deputy Kelly’s question on whether there are other records of communication rel-
evant to the work of the tribunal.  Other colleagues have used other fora to present the case.  
However, I can only speak for my own contribution in the Dáil last Wednesday, when I made 
the same specific point and urged that it be investigated.  It is quite clear to me, as a Deputy 
and Chair of this committee, in terms of Ms McPhillips’s responses earlier, that there has been, 
by deed or design, a special working relationship between her office’s position and that of the 
Minister and the Garda Commissioner.  There is of course a developing relationship there - Ms 
McPhillips is six days into her new position - and I have no doubt that in six weeks’ time she 
will be able to reflect a little bit more upon it.  It is absolutely essential that means of commu-
nication other than office communication - email transmission - including any private means of 
communication should be brought into the net for examination at the Charleton tribunal.  That is 
imperative.  I stated this very clearly in the Dáíl on Wednesday night last and in support of what 
Deputy Kelly said earlier.  I am of the view that the Department should not wait to be asked to 
provide such communications.  Inquiries should be made of Mr. Justice Charleton to see if he 
requires, or if he would appreciate, the inclusion of other modes of communication that may be 
in the private possession of anyone involved in all of this.  Perhaps there is other information 
out there that has not been revealed yet that would be critical to the work of the tribunal.  I urge 
Ms McPhillips to take that step.

The points that Deputies Clare Daly and Brophy and Senator Conway made about the small 
cadre of people who have information and were directly involved are interesting.  If I were one 
of these people and all of this was swirling around, I would have taken an individual step to 
examine my own records.  It would not be a case of waiting for someone to come to me and 
ask.  Those in the Department who were directly involved should have individual accountabil-
ity and should have openly and voluntarily gone through all of their own records and proffered 
anything relevant.  It is good that a trawl was done - and of course it should have been done 
in the most comprehensive way possible, but are there people who may have forgotten or did 
not know that there were other communications available?  If they had taken the initiative and 
checked themselves the question might have been answered and public confidence might have 
been restored.  It is something that needs to be done.  We are talking about a small number of 
people who would be able to shine a light on this.  They should step up to the plate and play 
their part.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I assure the Chairman that has been done.

Chairman: If that is the case, I welcome it.  It strikes me as strange that nothing other than 
what has been presented since the first discovery has come to light.  It is quite alarming.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: These are officials of the highest probity and I absolutely stand 
over the fact that they would take responsibility.

Chairman: I did not mention that at all.  I was surprised that they did not take the initiative 
themselves.  Ms McPhillips is now telling me that they have.
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Ms Oonagh McPhillips: They did, and that is how the email emerged on 9 November in the 
first place.  Somebody took responsibility, having seen the date referred to in the parliamentary 
questions.  The swirl of controversy started after that date.  Prior to that this was not an issue.

Chairman: If that is the case - and I have no reason to doubt it because this is the first time 
it has been answered - I welcome it.  That is the extent of responsibility and public service that 
I and everyone else in this room would expect of every person in those positions.  Have past 
employees of the Department also carried out individual accountability exercises?  If the trawl 
had been targeted, it would have thrown up the most recently discovered emails.  I hold that 
view and I believe it is the view of my colleagues.  Nothing that I have heard today dispels that 
belief.  A comprehensive electronic trawl should have been carried out and the Charleton tribu-
nal should then have determined relevance.

Ms McPhillips is the acting Secretary General of the Department of Justice.  There are a 
couple of points not aligned to what we have been discussing that I want to make before she 
leaves.  This is a golden opportunity and I do not want to lose it.  Would Ms McPhillips like to 
comment on what I have just said?

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I am not sure I can put the matter any further and I do not want to 
delay the committee.  I assure the Chairman that we will ask the tribunal the question he sug-
gested we should ask.

Chairman: I thank Ms McPhillips.  The issue with her Department’s responses to parlia-
mentary questions is not just confined to Deputy Alan Kelly.  Historically, they have been poor.  
I am in my 21st year as a Deputy and at times, if I had hair on my head, I would be pulling it out, 
but I am damn near to having none left.  At times the responses received are absolutely pathetic.  
It is as if an exercise has been embarked on to avoid actually giving the information sought.  I 
do not know what the experience of other colleagues is in that regard, but I ask Ms McPhil-
lips, as the new acting Secretary General of the Department, to take on board the frustration of 
elected Members.  Asking parliamentary questions is an important and integral part of our work 
and if there is not full disclosure to us, it frustrates our role and responsibility.

My final request is that in acknowledging representations or communications Ms McPhil-
lips’ office and Department please reference the issue raised.  On different occasions, including 
in performing my role here, I have sent a number of communications.  One receives a reply 
about representations made or communications sent “last week” and one has to ask which of 
them is being responded to.  Other Departments can actually reference the issues raised.  I ask 
that it also become part of the practice of the Department of Justice and Equality.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will be happy to raise that issue.

Chairman: I would prefer if Ms McPhillips dealt with it.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I will absolutely deal with it.  I think the practice, by and large, is 
to reference issues, but I apologise if that has not been the case.

Chairman: It has not been.

Ms Oonagh McPhillips: I would not like the Chairman to have to trawl through things.

Chairman: I thank Ms McPhillips.  That is a fine way to end the meeting.  I have no doubt 
that we will speak to her again.  On behalf of the committee, I thank her and her colleagues, Mr. 
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O’Callaghan, Mr. McKenna and Ms Phelan, for their attendance and engagement with mem-
bers.  I have no doubt that there will still be frustration among the committee’s membership, 
but, nevertheless, it has been a worthwhile exercise.  I hope it has been worthwhile on other 
levels also, but time will tell.

The joint committee went into private session at 11.55 a.m. and adjourned at 12.15 p.m. 
until 10.30 a.m. on Thursday, 7 December 2017.


